
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




 


 
 
 
83rd Board Meeting  
Friday, June 13, 2008 12:00 a.m. – 12:30 p.m. 
Reed College, 3203 SE Woodstock Boulevard, Vollum Lounge 
Portland, Oregon 
 
AGENDA TAB PURPOSE 
    
12:00 noon Call to Order (John Reynolds) 1 


• Approve agenda   
• May 14 meeting minutes   Action 


 


12:05 p.m. General Public Comment  
 The president may defer specific public comment to the  
 appropriate agenda topic 
 
12:10 p.m. Renewable Energy Program (John Reynolds) 2 


• Amending Resolution #453 approving funds for a  
Solar project with MMA renewables (R480)  Action 


• Transferring funds to the Solar Electric Program 
Budget (R481)  Action 


 
12:30 p.m. Adjourn 
  
 
  


 
The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 


will be held Wednesday, September 3, 2008, 12:00 noon 
at the Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc., 851 SW Sixth Avenue, 12th Floor 


Portland, Oregon 
 







Agenda  May 14, 2008 


   2


INDEX OF BOARD PACKET MATERIAL 
                             
Tab 1 Call to order 


• Agenda 
• May 14 meeting minutes   


 
Tab 2 Renewable Energy Program 


• Amending resolution #453 approving funds for a Solar project with MMA renewables 
(R480) 


• Authorizing movement of funds from the Community Wind Program to the Solar Electric 
Program (R481) 


   
Tab 3 Finance Committee 


• Notes from May 29 meeting 
• April finance report and monthly financials 
• Financial glossary  


 
Tab 4 Policy Committee  


• Notes from May 20 meeting 
 
Tab 5 Evaluation Committee 


• Notes from May 9 meeting 
 


Tab 6 Advisory council notes 
• CAC notes May 21 
• RAC draft notes May 21 


 








 


 
 
 


Draft Board Meeting Minutes – 82nd Meeting 
May 14, 2008 
 
Board members present: Jason Eisdorfer (left 1:30 pm), Dan Enloe, Roger Hamilton, Julie Hammond, 
Al Jubitz, Debbie Kitchin (arrived 1:40 pm), John Klosterman, Vickie Liskey, Caddy McKeown, Alan 
Meyer (left 1:30 pm), John Reynolds, John Savage, ex officio (left at 2:00 pm) and Betty Merrill, ex officio   
 
Board members absent: Rick Applegate and Preston Michie  
 
Staff attending:  Kacia Brockman, Pete Catching, Alan Cowan, Phil Degens, Elizabeth Giles, Fred 
Gordon, Margie Harris, Nancy Klass, Steve Lacey, Debbie Goldberg Menashe, Jan Schaeffer, John 
Volkman and Peter West 
 
Others attending:  Jeremy Anderson, WISE; Bill Edmonds, NW Natural; Dick Harmon, IAF; Joe 
Hertzberg, Decisions Decisions; and Lori Koho, OPUC  
 
Business Meeting 
President John Reynolds called the meeting to order at 12:12 pm. He noted the policy committee 
agenda item will be moved up, as Jason needs to leave the meeting early. 
 
April 9, 2008, meeting minutes.  
 
MOTION: Approve minutes from the April 9, 2008, meeting.  
 


Moved by: Caddy McKeown Seconded by: Jason Eisdorfer 


Vote: In favor: 9  Abstained: 1  


(John Klosterman abstained because 
he was not at the April board meeting) 


 Opposed: 0 


 
Adopted on May 14, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
General Public Comments 
 
There were none.  
 
President’s Report 
 
Resolution #477 board committee appointments. John Reynolds asked why the resolution notes the 
executive director and general counsel are authorized to sign routine 401k administrative documents on 
behalf of the board. John Volkman explained that there are a number of routine transactions associated 
with the plan that require signatures, e.g., every time an employee leaves Energy Trust their account 







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


2 


needs to be transferred to a successor plan or IRA. Having Margie or John sign such papers avoids the 
need to send papers to the board secretary for signature and getting them back. 
 
John noted he would appreciate having more board members attend the Conservation Advisory Council 
(CAC) and Renewable Energy Advisory Council (RAC) meetings. He noted that Debbie Kitchin and 
Alan Meyer regularly attend the RAC and CAC meetings. 
 


RESOLUTION #477 
BOARD COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 


WHEREAS: 


1. The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc. Board of Directors is authorized to appoint by 
resolution committees to carry out the Board’s business. 


2. The Board President has nominated several new directors to serve on the following 
committees. 


It is therefore RESOLVED: 


1. That the Board of Directors hereby appoints the following directors to the following 
committees for terms that will continue until a subsequent resolution changing 
committee appointments is adopted: 


 


Audit Committee  


 Julie Hammond, Chair 


 Alexis Dow, Metro 


 Vickie Liskey 


 Caddy McKeown 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Board Nominating Committee 


 Rick Applegate, Chair 


 Julie Hammond 


 Alan Meyer 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 


Compensation Committee (formerly 401(k) Committee) 


 John Klosterman, Chair 


 Al Jubitz 


 Vickie Liskey 


 Preston Michie 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


3 


 


Executive Director Review Committee 


 Caddy McKeown, Chair 


 Julie Hammond 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Finance Committee 


 John Klosterman, Chair 


 Debbie Kitchin 


 Dan Enloe 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Policy Committee 


 Jason Eisdorfer, Chair 


 Rick Applegate 


 Roger Hamilton 


 Caddy McKeown 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


Program Evaluation Committee 


 Debbie Kitchin, Chair 


 Dan Enloe 


 Alan Meyer 


 John Reynolds  (ex officio) 


Strategic Planning Committee (formerly Innovation Task Force) 


 Rick Applegate, Chair 


 Jason Eisdorfer 


 Al Jubitz 


 Lori Koho, OPUC 


 Betty Merrill, ODOE 


 John Reynolds (ex officio) 


 


2. The executive director and general counsel are authorized to sign routine 401(k) 
administrative documents on behalf of the board, or other documents if authorized by the 
Compensation Committee. 


 


Moved by: Vickie Liskey Seconded by: Caddy McKeown 


Vote: In favor: 10  Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


Adopted on May 14, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


4 


Energy Efficiency Program 
 


Resolution #478 amending the New Homes and Products contract. Jason Eisdorfer introduced the topic. 
Margie noted the funds are available from projected carryover funds, totaling $6.1 million (including 
reserves) at the end of 2008. Kendall Youngblood, Residential Sector Manager, noted we are looking to 
add 2.1 aMW in electric energy savings, for an additional expenditure of $1.6 million, to the New 
Homes and Products program. Of this amount, $806,000 would be for specialty compact fluorescent 
lighting promotions and $826,000 would be for an expanded refrigerator replacement initiative in Pacific 
Power territory. The resolution would authorize the executive director to amend the program 
management contract for the New Homes and Products program without revising the entire Energy 
Trust budget. If the program expends all the dollars as projected, the board would see an 11% variance 
over the current approved program budgets. The variance would be indicated on the quarterly reports 
to the board and OPUC. 
 
Alan Meyer asked why we are seeking additional support for CFLs if the market has been nearly 
transformed. Kendall explained these CFLs are specialty bulbs such as those used in recessed overhead 
fixtures and bathroom vanities. This proposed program incentive does not include the typical twister 
bulb. 
 


RESOLUTION #478 
 


AUTHORIZING ADDITIONAL EXPENDITURES FOR THE HOME ENERGY 
SOLUTIONS NEW HOMES AND PRODUCTS PROGRAM 


 
WHEREAS: 


1. In December 2007, the board approved a $11,832,525 2008 budget for the Home Energy 
Solutions New Homes and Products Program. Under board policy, expenditures may not 
exceed board-authorized program budgets. 


2. In April 2008, the board revised the 2008 budget to reflect 2007 carryover and supplemental 
energy efficiency funding, which includes funds that are not allocated to specific programs, and 
available to be targeted where they can be most effective. 


3. Staff has identified two areas where cost-effective energy savings are available and 
expenditures would exceed board-authorized budgets: (a) $805,626 for additional compact 
florescent specialty lighting promotions saving approximately 1.5 aMW at $.010/kWh, 
levelized (~13.5 million kWh); and (b) $825,880 for an expanded refrigerator replacement 
initiative in PacifiCorp territory, saving 0.6 aMW at $.026/kWh, levelized (~5.4 million kWh). 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.: 


1. Authorizes an exception from the board policy limiting expenditures to board-authorized 
program budgets, for the limited purpose of allowing the executive director to amend the 
Home Energy Solutions New Homes and Products program management contract to increase 
funding by $1,631,506 and savings goals by 2.1 aMW.  


2. Directs staff to report budget and savings variances for this program to the board as part of 
the quarterly report. 


 
 







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


5 


Moved by: Jason Eisdorfer Seconded by: Roger Hamilton 


Vote: In favor: 10  Abstained: 0 


 Opposed: 0 


Adopted on May 14, 2008, by Energy Trust Board of Directors. 
 
Policy Committee report (moved forward on the agenda). Jason noted the committee met April 15. He 
explained the first item, risk vs reliability policy, will be discussed later during this meeting. He noted the 
staff is exploring additional office space, in the event additional space is needed in future years. John 
Reynolds asked for comment on whether we should pay a premium for new space in which we more 
closely can “walk our talk.” Margie noted we are in conversations about a couple of “living building” 
projects, in which buildings would produce as much or more energy than they use. Julie Hammond 
noted that we need to balance between demonstrating our values and being fiscally prudent. Dan Enloe 
noted the possibility that Energy Trust should consider a building like that if our presence were needed 
to “tip” occupancy. He noted a recent story in The Oregonian about Intel increasing density in office 
occupancy through measures like telecommuting. He offered to provide more information about this; 
Margie welcomed it. Alan Meyer asked what our current per-square-foot rate is; Margie said $19, 
escalating to approximately $21 by the end of our lease in 2011. Current space in the building is renting 
at $25 per square foot. This is compared to projected downtown new LEED certified building costs of 
$35+ per square foot. Al Jubitz noted some of the projects recycle old buildings. In the interim, staff is 
negotiating additional storage and conference room space on the 10th floor of the current building. 
 
John Reynolds noted the policy committee’s consideration of the risk vs. reliability policy. Roger asked 
whether factoring in concern about global warming might change the weights to risk vs. reliability. Fred 
Gordon noted we expect to deal with this question in more depth at the board strategic planning 
retreat. Dan Enloe said our duty is to the Oregonian ratepayer. When we have the opportunity to take 
risks, we become a leader for the benefit of Oregonians.  
 
Renewable Energy Program 
 
Managing risk in renewable energy projects: Peter West noted at the February board meeting, a robust 
discussion of Energy Trust’s approach to contracting for renewable energy projects led to a request 
from the board for a review of Energy Trust’s approach to managing risk in renewable energy projects. 
He noted the analytic approach staff takes to analyzing projects has been peer-reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. He said we use third-party, national experts to support our analyses. We focus our support for 
projects at the very beginning and, again, at the very end.  
 
The discussion at the February board meeting focused on contracting, which happens at the end. He 
noted that, more and more over time, our job is to help drive project costs down to the point where 
they have no above-market costs, and then we turn to new, riskier technologies. He also noted that all 
projects entail risk and, it is a myth that every project “hits a home run.”  
 
Peter identified five types of risks Energy Trust looks at: 
 


1. Development risk. We look at this up front and are conservative in our assessments. 
2. Opportunity risk. We take some unavoidable risk because by investing in one project there are 


others we might forego.  







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


6 


3. Equipment, permitting and construction. Although we may want to reexamine this at the 
strategic plan workshop, we do not currently take these risks. Investments in this area can be 
large, and we are unable to hold an equipment inventory.  


4. Project costs. We do not accept the risk of cost overruns.  
5. Performance. We fund only after projects are inspected and commissioned, so we avoid the risk 


that a project would not result in generation. If a project comes in at a smaller generation rating 
than anticipated, we fund a smaller portion of the project. If it fails over time, we require a pro-
rata payback of incentives.  


 
Peter then went into more detail on areas where Energy Trust assumes risks. Early on we didn’t take 
much development risk. Starting in 2006, we realized if we didn’t start stepping in to support feasibility 
studies and resource assessments, we weren’t going to see more projects. These are good spots for 
leverage: we can split the cost and risk, up to 50-50. This helps develop partnerships. We do not fund 
development expenses beyond the resource assessment and feasibility study. This is similar to the 
approach of the Production Efficiency program, except that the Production Efficiency program pays 
100% of the cost of studies, and the average cost of renewable energy studies is higher.   
 
Development risk was then discussed in more detail. For small projects, the risk of failure after 
commissioning is fairly low. Because our share of total project cost is 5-20% (larger projects, not PV), 
our partners in the projects carry most of the risk. The projects get the major part of their revenues 
from power sales, which provide an incentive to perform. We look at what our partners are requiring 
to assure performance. Utilities have standard power-sales contracts that can allow them to step into a 
project if its sponsors fail to deliver. Peter noted that, unlike our efficiency projects, we include pay-back 
provisions in renewable project agreements. Like energy efficiency, we reduce payment if a project is 
built to less-than-expected capacity or design. He noted we do not ask for interest payments on 
repayments, for several reasons: We already extract something out of these projects, namely the green 
tags (he noted we now are able to leave some green tags on the table, providing another incentive). In 
addition, if we paid over time, we would pay more in cash than if we were to pay up front. And finally, 
we are not a commercial lender; we have to balance fiscal responsibility with serving the public purpose 
in developing renewable energy. We push the market as far as we can with regard to the risks we think 
we cannot carry.  
 
Alan Meyer said Peter’s paper and presentation went well beyond the scope of his questions. He initially 
thought the actions at the February board meeting were not in keeping with the spirit of the last point 
Peter made about paying less up front. Peter said he wrote the action items in February poorly. In the 
case of Swalley irrigation district considered at that meeting, we had made an error in calculation that 
we needed to correct. That was not in the write-up, erroneously. In the case of the Central Oregon 
Irrigation District also considered at that meeting, we offered $1 million up front. If we had paid over 
time, it would have been $1 million plus the value of money over time; this was not clear in the write-
up. Alan acknowledged he understood this.  
 
Roger Hamilton asked what our green tag policy is. Peter explained we claim green tags in proportion 
to the share of above market costs represented by our funds and the market value of the tags.  
 
Betty asked what Energy Trust does with its green tags. Peter said we retire them to the utility to use to 
address the renewable portfolio standard (RPS).  
 
John Reynolds asked to what extent we are willing to share the risk of a costly up-front activity such as 
drilling for geothermal resource. Peter said we have to consider the total amount of money we have, 
and ask what a dry hole would do to our generation goals.  







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


7 


Jason said that although SB 1149 doesn’t require retiring green tags with utilities, selling the green tags 
removes the “renewable” quality from an investment. So, in effect, we are required to retire the tags. 
He referred to a discussion documented in the Renewable Energy Advisory Council notes concerning 
how to count tags toward RPS requirements.  
 
John Reynolds asked about a briefing paper in the packet on using Pacific Power funds for large scale 
solar. Peter said he had been approached by developers seeking funds to support large ground-mounted 
(2-3 mw) solar electric installations with Pacific Power. Peter explained we felt it wasn’t fair to support 
1-2 projects without a request-for-proposal (RFP) process. There isn’t enough time to have a fair 
process, given that we’re told projects must be underway by June to be completed by the end of the 
year in order to get the federal production tax credit. Rather than rush with a limited RFP that could 
only benefit a few, staff thought it best to wait. It would be better to use any additional funds to satisfy 
the excess demand in the standard program before adding new elements. He also noted we have budget 
for only 1-2 large projects; he doesn’t foresee being able to transform a market with only 1-2 projects.  
 
Jason Eisdorfer and Alan Meyer left the meeting at 1:30 pm. 
 
Committee Reports 
 
Audit Committee. Julie Hammond said the audit committee met with two auditors today; they will select 
one to work with us on proper internal controls. The committee is beginning to think about the next 
management audit. Dan Enloe asked what the level of e-business transactions at Energy Trust is. Julie 
and Margie noted we have taken a conservative approach to carefully manage public purpose funds.  
 
John Reynolds asked when the next management audit is due. Julie thinks January 2010. She doesn’t 
think it will be as in-depth a study this time.  
 
Debbie Kitchin arrived at 1:40 pm. 
 
Finance Committee. John Klosterman noted the compensation committee has held two meetings to more 
closely review total staff compensation and benefits. He noted also our 401(k) advisor is selling that 
portion of his business and we are working with him to find another advisor. He drew attention to 
finance committee notes. He noted the overall position of our investments is solid.  
 
Julie asked about an RFP to hire a mapping review of our internal data systems. Margie explained this is 
getting at details from the Moss Adams study.  
 
Policy Committee. This was covered earlier in the meeting.  
 
Program Evaluation Committee. Debbie Kitchin noted the evaluation committee met Friday to review the 
findings of the draft Home Energy Solutions impact assessment and the Home Energy Monitor pilot. Phil 
Degens reported on a pilot study in which we are installing about 200 Home Energy Monitors and put 
30 up for sale (we sold out in two hours). A requirement of participation is completion of surveys by all 
those with installed monitors.  To date, we’ve completed almost 80 on-line surveys. We are following 
up with the rest to get more surveys. In about six months and, again after a year, we will look at bills to 
see the impact of the monitor on energy use.  
 
John Savage asked if we are providing information about how the average usage of those with monitors 
compares with the average usage of their neighbors around them. Phil said we are not doing this with 
this pilot. He notes there are utilities around the country doing this. John joked that it would be 







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


8 


interesting to offer an “evil pilot” in which comparative information, even if it were not true, would 
show a resident using more than their neighbors and seeing if their energy usage decreases below that 
of their neighbors.  
 
Dan Enloe suggested running a contest among people with the meters and rewarding those who save 
the most. Phil noted this pilot is simply studying how people use the meters.  
 
Break 
 
The board took a break from 1:50 – 2:05.  
 
John Savage left the meeting during the break. 
 
Strategic Planning Committee. Margie reviewed logistics for the retreat Friday-Saturday, June 13-14. She 
introduced Joe Hertzberg, facilitator for the meeting. She directed attention to tab 7, a briefing paper on 
the 2008-2009 strategic planning process. She said unlike some recent sessions, this time staff will not 
direct the board’s discussion on specific issues. Instead, the agenda will encourage us to “take the lid 
off,” asking the board to brainstorm about the organization’s future vision, mission and goals, given the 
doubling of our resources, the maturity of our operations and the effective extension of our end-date 
through 2025. There will be two speakers at the retreat: one from McKinsey & Company, Chris Stori, 
who will address two recent studies on energy efficiency productivity and global warming reductions; 
the second speaker is the local author of The Clean Tech Revolution: The Next Big Growth and 
Investment Opportunity, Ron Pernick. Joe Hertzberg said this meeting will be fun, and will be a nice 
balance between open-ended thinking and practicalities. We hope to end up with a sense of what to do 
and what not to do, and, for areas of potential activity about which we are unsure, a sense of the issues 
to resolve and how to resolve them.  
 
In anticipation of the upcoming retreat, the board and meeting attendees watched a video of the 
following: 
 


• Overview of conservation in the Pacific Northwest, Tom Eckman, Northwest Power & Conservation 
Council. Nancy Klass ran a slide show with taped talk that Tom Eckman recently gave to staff. 
Some of Tom’s key points included: 


 
- Since 1978, we have obtained almost 2,000 aMW of savings from the Alliance and 


utility/Energy Trust programs, approximately 800 aMW from building codes since 1983, 
and approximately 700 aMW from appliance efficiency, for a total of 3,300 aMW. 


 
- Since 1980, half of the region’s load growth has been met through energy efficiency.  


 
- This is enough juice to serve the entire state of Idaho and all of western Montana.  


 
- It saved the region’s consumers nearly $1.3 billion in 2005, net the cost of rates. 


 
- It lowered 2005 PNW carbon emissions by 13.5 million non-metric tons.  


 
- The levelized cost of efficiency runs between 1-2 cents/kwh, compared to the wholesale 


cost of power, which is about $50/kwh/month, or 10 cents/kWh not including wires and 
transmission.  


 







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


9 


- Efficiency acquisition is the cheapest and least risky way to go.  
 


- The 5th Power Plan relies on conservation and renewable resources to meet nearly all 
load growth.  


 
- Residential lighting represents 20-25% of the efficiency resource.  


 
- A survey of 96% of the region’s loads in 2005-7 shows we are meeting efficiency targets, 


and in 2007 we set an all-time record.  
 


- For the future, utilities are ramping up: Puget Sound Energy increased its conservation 
goal 40% in 2008 compared to 2007; Avista is increasing its 2008 efficiency goal by 20%; 
and more. Everybody’s up about 1/5th higher in ’08 compared to ’07.  


 
- Other energy efficiency drivers include climate change awareness and state mandates, 


the Western Climate Initiative (WCI), challenges to new thermal power plants, 
emerging technologies (such as electric autos) could dramatically increase usage of 
electricity.  


 
- Other factors include high natural gas prices and are forecast to remain so, the cost of 


new resources are substantially higher, renewable portfolio standards (RPS) and other 
legislation, all of which limit resource choices. 


 
- The Northwest carbon emissions for electricity production has a historical average of 


one-half pound per kwh, given hydro. Using combined-cycle or conventional coal plants 
to generate electricity will at least double the carbon output. The national average is 
one pound of carbon for every kWh of electric generation, and we can expect to move 
toward that average in this region 


 
- From 1990 to 2005, we added about 23 coal plants worth of emissions. If 2005 had been 


an average water year, it would have been 15 coal plants worth of added emissions. 
 


- 85% of our carbon emissions come from existing coal plants.  
 


- If the Northwest meets all load growth with conservation or renewables, it still won’t 
meet the WCI goals or come anywhere close to reducing carbon to 1990 levels.  


 
- The amount of carbon we produce varies with time of day, day of week and season of 


year. If we save energy during the day, to reduce peak demand, we displace gas 
generation. If we save energy at night, we displace coal. So, if carbon reduction is the 
goal, we may invest in different efficiency and renewable measures than if we are just 
aiming at saving megawatts.   


 
- Adopting a carbon tax will raise the cost of coal compared to gas, which will mean we 


turn off coal plants at the margin.  
 


- By increasing the cost of carbon-producing resources, carbon control might make 4-20% 
more conservation “cost effective.” However, we haven’t studied this effect. The CO2 
cost must be high enough ($50/ton in 2012, or $43/ton in 2006) to have any effect. Even 







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


10 


with the projected $50 ton/cost by 2012, we may not get CO2 emissions down to 1990 
levels. 


 
- Achieving CO2 goals will require us to decommission coal plants and replace them with 


energy efficiency and renewable power.  
 
Margie summarized Tom’s points:  
 


• Energy efficiency will continue to be the most cost effective resource. 
• Current efficiency measures will continue to generate savings for several years, but energy 


efficiency needs to evolve to supply significant savings after 2025. 
• All resources will be more costly in the future. 
• All non-carbon resources will be more valuable.  


 
John Reynolds asked if we know how close we came to meeting conservation targets in earlier power 
plans. Debbie noted the plans all assume existing technologies, not new ones.  
 
Dan Enloe noted Tom’s analysis is of regional energy sources. Worldwide there are less expensive 
resources, and not all countries will participate in carbon regulation. Roger Hamilton noted the 
interaction between the transportation sector and the energy sector.  
 
Staff Report 
 
Highlights of staff report. Margie reported::  


• Working with NW Natural and Cascade Natural Gas on their integrated resource plans 
•  Automating our first program forms on-line 
•  Well underway with activities in the Corvallis Energy Challenge 
• Partnering with the Association of Clean Water Agencies and the Green Motors Practices 


Group, doing outreach to PGE-area cities and water districts on small hydro projects 
• The expiring federal production tax credit is pushing solar forward 
• The absence of turbines has slowed the small wind program  
• The third annual NW Solar Expo attracted more than 4,000 people  
• We presented the Energy Trust Green Future Award to the City of Portland’s Office of 


Sustainable Development in recognition of its success increasing the number of solar 
installations 


• The number of web visits is approaching 10,000/month, a record 
• Thad Roth has been hired as biomass program manager; he was with Columbia River PUD 
• Ben Huntington has been hired as planner/analyst in the Planning & Evaluation team  


 
Feature presentation. New Buildings Program, Spencer Moersfelder, Business Sector Manager. Spencer 
manages the New Buildings program, with SAIC as the program contractor. The market includes 
commercial new construction, multifamily buildings more than 3 stories high, mixed-use buildings, major 
renovations and new industrial buildings. In 2007 the program won an American Council for an Energy 
Efficient Economy (ACEEE) exemplary program award. The program has four tracks: 
 


• Standard track – prescriptive incentives up to $100,000 
• Custom track – custom incentives up to $300,000 
• LEED Track – up to $300,000 







Discussion Minutes  May 14, 2008 


11 


• ENERGY STAR track – $30,000 incentives for ENERGY STAR certification 
• Maximum regular incentive – $460,000  


 
Baseline = existing codes.  
 
Electric results = savings, costs, measure lives all increasing while levelized cost is decreasing. 
Gas results = savings increasing, then decreasing; costs and measure lives increasing; levelized cost 
decreases and then increases.  
 
Large projects are especially important to the success of the program. Marketing has focused on 
outreach to architects and engineers. In addition, we are trying a more traditional trade ally approach to 
meet the design-build market.  
 
Julie Hammond asked how we market to architects and engineers. Spencer said we do a lot of “lunch 
and learn” sessions. Circuit riders travel the state and regularly meet with these program actors to keep 
them up to date on program activities and provide project assistance.  
 
Spencer showed pie charts demonstrating the custom track achieves the highest savings per number of 
projects.  
 
Steve Lacey said we expect to bring the OSU LEED energy center plus co-gen project to the board this 
summer. This will be a megaproject, because it will seek incentives above the program cap.  
 
Caddy McKeown said she has gotten calls from two different community colleges about how to work 
with Energy Trust. Spencer said he is the go-to guy. She noted we might want to reach out to 
community colleges.  
 
Betty Merrill said she works with the program nearly every day. She thinks it’s an excellent program, 
very well run, and thanked Spencer.  
 
Margie noted, for the benefit of new board members, this presentation is one in a series of 
presentations by staff members on particular areas of Energy Trust activity.  
 
Caddy welcomed the new board members.  
 
Adjourn 
The meeting adjourned at 3:50 pm. 
 
Next meeting. The next regular meeting of the Energy Trust Board of Directors and annual strategic 
planning workshop will be held at Reed College, 3203 SE Woodstock Boulevard, Vollum Lounge, 
Portland, Oregon as follows: 
 


Board meeting, June 13, 2008, 12:00 noon – 12:30 pm 
Annual strategic planning workshop, Friday, June 13, 8:30 am to 5:00 pm and  


Saturday, June 14, 8:30 am to approximately 2:30 pm 
 
Both the board meeting and strategic planning workshop are open to the public. 


 
 








 


 


 


 


 
 
 
Board Decision 
Amending Resolution #453 Approving Funds for a Solar 
Project with MMA Renewables 
June 13, 2008 


Summary 
Authorize staff to change the name of the funding recipient for a multi-site solar photovoltaic (PV) 
project,  previously authorized by the board with ProLogis.    


Background 
• Last October, the board approved up to $3,405,000 in funding for at least a 3.5 megawatt PV 


project on multiple buildings owned by ProLogis, a large owner of warehouses. At that time, the 
board considered the following: 


o ProLogis has previously installed several large, rooftop PV systems in Europe. 
o The proposed solar systems would provide power directly to PGE under standard 


contract terms and rates for qualifying facilities (QF) under 10 MW, and would not be 
net-metered.   


o The project is of particular interest because it tests the question whether the QF model 
is viable for larger, urban projects.  


o PGE supports the project, seeing it as both an opportunity to help customers employ 
more green power and an effective source of peak power. 


o The RAC and Policy Committee reviewed and supported the project. 
o Energy Trust funding of an estimated $0.97/watt would be in the range of the standard 


incentives of $0.80 – $1.50/watt offered for net-metered commercial projects under the 
Energy Trust’s Solar Program for PGE customers. The solar program has yet to see a 
project completed at the lower range of these standard offers.  


Discussion 
• ProLogis has determined that instead of building and owning the PV facilities, it wishes to use 


the third-party development model and lease its roof space to MMA Renewable Ventures.  


• MMA Renewable Ventures will develop and own the project and sell the project power to PGE. 
ProLogis will be involved solely as owner of the roof space occupied by the PV facilities. 


• ProLogis and MMA have determined that 3.5 MW of capacity can be installed in 2008 at today’s 
costs. More capacity is not feasible at this time. 


• Because the existing board authorization designates ProLogis as the funding recipient, we need 
an amended resolution to provide funding instead to MMA Renewable Ventures. 


• In all other respects, the project would be unchanged. 


Recommendation 
Approve resolution #480, amending resolution #453 authorizing funds for the ProLogis project, to allow 
funding for MMA Renewable Ventures on the same terms.   


 







Substituting MMA Renewables for ProLogis in a PV Project June 13, 2008 


 


 


Page 2 of 2 


 
 
 


RESOLUTION #480 
AMENDING RESOLUTION #453 


APPROVING FUNDS FOR A SOLAR PROJECT WITH MMA 
RENEWABLES 


 
WHEREAS: 


 


a.   On October 3, 2007, the board approved Resolution #453 
authorizing up to $3,405,000 in funding for at least a 3.5 megawatt 
PV project on multiple buildings owned by ProLogis. 


 


b.   ProLogis has determined that instead of building and owning the 
PV facilities, it wishes to use the third-party development model 
and lease its roof space to MMA Renewable Ventures.  


c. MMA Renewables proposes to install a total of 3.5 - 4.7 MW of 
solar photovoltaic (PV) generation on as many as 17 ProLogis 
buildings in the Portland General Electric (PGE) service territory. 


d. The above-market costs of the project are estimated to be 
$3,405,000 or less.  


e. Even at the low end, the project would be the Energy Trust’s 
largest single PV venture, exceeding the Solar Electric Program’s 
total installed capacity during the last four years. 


f. Energy Trust funding of an estimated $0.97/watt would be in the 
range of the standard incentive the Solar Program offers.  


g. Over the first 20 years of operation, the clean power produced by 
the project will help avoid over 42,700 tons of CO2 emissions. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust of 
Oregon, Inc. amends Resolution #453 approving an agreement with MMA 
Renewables consistent with the following basic terms:  


1. MMA Renewables will deliver a project of at least 3.5 MW. 


2. When bids are finalized and accepted by MMA Renewables, staff 
will re-calculate above-market costs. 


3. Energy Trust will provide a maximum of $3,405,000. 


4. Green tags will be delivered to PGE and held in trust by PGE for 
the benefit of ratepayers for compliance with Renewable Energy 
Act obligations.  


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" 
vote] 


 








 
 
 
 


 
 
 
Board Decision 
Transferring Funds from the Community Wind 
Program to the Solar Electric Program Budget 
June 13, 2008 


Summary 
Staff proposes to shift $1.5 million of PGE and $1.0 million of Pacific Power funds from the Community 
Wind program budget, where they cannot be used this year, to the Solar Electric program budget where 
they can be used.   


Background 
• Due to lack of available wind turbines and difficulty in extending federal tax credits for wind, all 


potential 2008 Community Wind program projects have been cancelled, which will mean Energy 
Trust’s 2008 goal for this program will not be met. 


• At the same time, activity in the solar program is surging, particularly in third-party-owned 
commercial and government projects. These projects allow government or nonprofit entities to 
finance solar energy systems through third-party investors who are attracted by the federal tax 
benefits. The surge in interest is due in part to the expiration of the federal investment tax 
credit for solar the end of this year. 


• The 2008 solar budget is nearly 100% committed in PGE and Pacific Power territories, and there 
are more solar projects in the pipeline than can be funded from this year’s solar program 
budget. These projects could use at least $2.5M in 2008 incentive dollars.  


Discussion 
• The 2008 budget forecasted that the wind program would deliver projects that generate 1.24 


aMW. Given the lack of available turbines, little if any of this generation will be secured. 


• Reallocating funds from the Community Wind program to the solar program will offset this loss 
of generation by 0.34 aMW.  


• Staff’s proposal would leave $1.95 million in the Community Wind program to allow us to fund 
community-scale wind projects if we can find used, reconditioned turbines for them.  


• This proposal is supported by the policy committee and the RAC. 


Recommendation 
Staff recommends the board adopt Resolution #481to shift 2008 funds from the wind to the solar 
program, and adjust the generation goal accordingly. 


 


 







Transfer funds from Community Wind to Solar June 13, 2008 


 


 


Page 1 of 2 


RESOLUTION #481 


AUTHORIZING MOVEMENT OF FUNDS FROM THE 
COMMUNITY WIND PROGRAM TO THE SOLAR PROGRAM 


WHEREAS: 


1. Due to the lack of available wind turbines and difficulty in extending 
federal tax credits for wind, all of Energy Trust’s 2008 Community Wind 
program projects have been cancelled.  


2. At the same time, there is more demand for solar projects than can be 
satisfied from the 2008 Solar Program budget. The 2008 Solar Program 
could use at least $2.5M in additional incentive dollars. 


It is therefore RESOLVED that the board of directors of Energy Trust 
of Oregon, Inc. authorizes staff to: 


1. Shift $1.5 million of PGE and $1.0 million of Pacific Power funds from the 
Community Wind program budget, where they cannot be used this year, 
to the Solar Electric program budget, where they can be used. 


2. Adjust the 2008 renewable energy generation goal to reflect the loss of 
1.24 aMW from the Community Wind Program, offset by the gain of .34 
aMW from additional solar projects.  


 


Moved by:       Seconded by:       


Vote: In favor:       Abstained:       


 Opposed: [list name(s) and, if requested, reason for "no" 
vote] 


 








 
 
Finance Committee Notes 
May 29, 2008 
 
The finance committee met at 2:00 pm on May 29, 2008, with John Klosterman, treasurer; Debbie 
Kitchin, secretary; Dan Enloe, board member, Margie Harris, executive director, Sue Sample, chief 
financial officer, and Pati Presnail, controller in attendance. John Reynolds was not able to attend. 
 
April 30, 2008 financial statements 
 
Sue presented the April 2008 financial statements. The budget-to-actual comparisons for this report 
continue to be based on the budget approved by the Board on April 9.  


 


Revenues are tracking very closely with budget so far this year with an overall 2% variance, same as the 
prior month. The negative variance in PGE renewables revenue is a result of how self-direct revenue is 
treated for renewables projects.  
 
Expenditures were 42% short of what was budgeted with the bulk of that shortfall (80%) in incentive 
payments. The majority of that variance is housed in the renewable energy programs where the 
Goodnoe Hills project was delayed and where community wind projects are impacted by the shortage 
of wind turbines and available financing.  Payment for Goodnoe Hills is still expected sometime around 
mid-year. There will likely be a board resolution in June to transfer some of the available Wind program 
funding to the Solar program where demand is particularly high. 
 
John questioned the performance measure for program support and administrative costs. He questioned 
whether our low actual experience (4.7%) as compared to our performance measure (11%) would cause 
any issues. Margie responded that the measure is set by the OPUC and is a minimum measure. Our 
stretch goal is 9%. The board could choose to develop an alternative metric, or perhaps an even lower 
rate to measure our performance.  Because the current rate is based on revenue, the increases we’ve 
seen this year have kept the rate low on a percentage basis. 
 
Request to produce finance report summarization quarterly rather than monthly 
 
Margie brought up the issue of variance reporting and described how the variance explanations seem to 
add little value, especially in the renewables arena. After some discussion the committee determined to 
limit the variance analysis to that provided quarterly in the report to the Board and the OPUC.  
 
The committee will also try scheduling its meeting around those report review opportunities, but will 
continue to receive the monthly financial statement package. 
  
Investment clarification 
 
In response to John’s request, Sue provided a narrative description of the investments currently held by 
Energy Trust at Bank of the Cascades. She also provided the committee with some materials offered by 
the bank.  The narrative follows: 
 







Finance Committee Notes  May 29, 2008 


 2


Energy Trust holds its investments in two primary vehicles, based on the board approved investment 
policy: 
 


CDARS (Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service) 
The program provides a way for Bank of the Cascades to satisfy large-dollar depositors who are 
looking for the convenience of dealing with a single institution for all of their CD purchases and 
the assurance of 100% FDIC coverage for total deposits over $50 million. When we place a 
large amount with BotC into CDs issued by other banks in the network, in increments up to 
$100,000, both our principal and interest are eligible for complete FDIC protection.  The 
advantages to the Energy Trust are as follows: 


• Community reinvestment. Deposits can support lending opportunities throughout Oregon 
that foster a stronger community 


• No investment management fees 
• 100% FDIC Insured  
• One interest rate, one account statement, one Form 1099 at year end. 
 
As of April 30, 2008, Energy Trust had $48.8 million in non-escrowed laddered CDARS 
investments and $10.4 million in laddered escrowed CDARS investments. 
An FDIC insured deposit is considered one of the most safe and secure investments available 
because depositors are guaranteed the preservation of their funds by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation.  The average yield for our CDARS investments is 2.2164%.  This is a 
straight average. 
  
Federated Treasury Obligations Fund 
This mutual fund is the most conservative investment sweep product Bank of the Cascades 
offers. The Treasury Obligations Fund is Aaa Moody’s rated and AAA Fitch Rated and is backed 
by US Treasuries and Repurchase Agreements.  Treasuries and Repurchase Agreements are 
considered two of the most conservative securities investments available.  This investment is 
not FDIC insured, but it does meet the conservative investment policy of Energy Trust intended 
to minimize the risk of loss of principal.  In April the yield for this fund was 1.68% and our 
balance at month end was $17.6 million.  
  
For use in comparison, Treasuries under six months are about 1.7% right now. 


 
Other topics 
 
Economic impact 
 
Margie and the committee discussed the implications of the current economic climate, brainstorming 
ideas about how the economic downturn might impact participation in Energy Trust programs. 
 
Next Meeting 
 
The next Finance Committee meeting is scheduled for May August 11, 2008 at 3:30 pm. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 3:00 pm. 








 
 
Finance Report 
April 30, 2008 
Review April 2008 year-to-date financial statements 
 
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statements 
The most significant change on April’s balance sheet is the increase in cash resulting from the excess of 
revenues over expenditures. Accounts Payable also increased due to the timing of payments made.  
 
Income Statements 
• Public purpose revenues year to date varied only 2% from budgeted amounts. In the analysis that 


follows, PacifiCorp funds resulting from SB 838 are included with the balance of the PacifiCorp 
energy efficiency revenues. The impact of self-directed renewable energy projects is affecting the 
amount reported as below budget for PGE. 


• April year to date expenses were approximately 58% of budget. Major variances are described 
below. 


 
 Revenue 
 


Public Purpose Revenue 


Public Purpose Revenue Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
PGE


Energy Efficiency 58,949                       -                            58,949$                            1%
Renewable Energy -                            (77,135)                      (77,135)                             (3%)


PacifiCorp
Energy Efficiency 234,940                     -                            234,940                            3%
Renewable Energy 18,551                       -                            18,551                              1%


NW Natural 217,337                     -                            217,337                            4%
Cascade 51,877                       -                            51,877                              10%
Total 581,654$                  (77,135)$                   504,519$                        2%  


 
Interest income is below budget by 8% reflecting the decline in interest rates experienced in the 
past few months.  
 


Expenses 
 


Overall Expenses: below budget by $11.6 million (42% under budget) 
 


Program Management, Delivery & Marketing (6% of expense variance)                


Prog Mgmt, Deliv & Mktng Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
Energy Efficiency


Commercial -                            (192,990)                    (192,990)                           (10%)
Industrial -                            (107,420)                    (107,420)                           (8%)
Residential -$                          (350,148)$                  (350,148)$                         (9%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                            -                            -                                   0%
Open Solicitation -                            (20,000)                      (20,000)                             (100%)
Solar 802                           -                            802                                  6%
Utility Scale -                            -                            -                                   0%
Wind 2,922                         -                            2,922                               49%


Total 3,724$                    (670,559)$               (666,835)$                       (9%)  
 







Finance Report  April 30, 2008 


 2


Incentives (80% of expense variance) 


Incentives Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under)
% over/(under) 


budget
Energy Efficiency


Commercial -                            (139,950)                    (139,950)                           (8%)
Industrial -                            (576,030)                    (576,030)                           (47%)
Residential -$                          (130,526)$                  (130,526)$                         (4%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                            (591,474)                    (591,474)                           (93%)
Open Solicitation -                            (1,333,282)                 (1,333,282)                        100%
Solar -                            (415,929)                    (415,929)                           (55%)
Utility Scale -                            (1,457,667)                 (1,457,667)                        (100%)
Wind -                            (4,628,400)                 (4,628,400)                        (100%)


Total -$                        (9,273,257)$            (9,273,257)$                    (61%)  
• Industrial – While the timing of multiple projects has been slower than anticipated, all are expected to complete, 


although perhaps not by year-end.  
• Biopower – The Rough & Ready and The Columbia Blvd WWTP projects are happening later than expected, although 


both are now operational. Payments are expected to begin soon and should catch up with budgeted amounts. 
• Open Solicitation – The timing of the $1.2 million PHC Solar Project has changed from April to Q4 2008. 
• Solar – Delays are being experienced due to contractors spending time “selling” rather than installing. Selling will 


continue to ramp up through mid-year due to the upcoming expiration of the 30% federal tax credit.  The program has 
commitments for its full 2008 incentive budget but expects they will be heavily weighted toward the end of the year. 


• Utility Scale – Pacific Power’s GoodNoe Hills wind project has also run into delays. Payments will not begin until mid-
year, with variances increasing between now and June. Payments are expected to be completed by year end. 


• Wind – For community wind, three projects with payments expected in Q1 have been withdrawn and will not go 
forward. The small wind program is beginning to pick up but it funds projects of a much smaller dollar value. 


 
Professional Services (9% of expense variance) 
Professional Services Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under) % of total
Evaluation & Planning -$                          (306,403)$                  (306,403)$                         29%
Marketing -                            (280,062)                    (280,062)                           27%
Energy Efficiency -                            (202,066)                    (202,066)                           19%
Renewables -                            (157,623)                    (157,623)                           15%
Other -                            (97,390)                      (97,390)                             9%
Total -$                        (1,043,544)$            (1,043,544)$                    100%  
• Evaluation & Planning Evaluation projects are being initiated and progressing at a rate close to that anticipated. 


However, the monthly expenditures are showing a different pattern. Based on refined project schedules, modest 
expenditures over the next few months are anticipated with a significant spike in the fall as several projects complete. 


• Marketing – The largest variances are related to the timing of Media Ads and Creative services which were budgeted 
evenly throughout the year, but have not yet occurred. These are still expected to happen within the year. 


• Energy Efficiency – The variances are scattered throughout the programs and continue to reflect timing differences. 
• Renewables – The delays in project activity has decreased the current need for some anticipated professional services. 


Precise timing of the individual payments is very difficult to predict, but most work is still expected to be completed. 
 
By Division -Total Expenses 
By Division Over Budget Under Budget Total Over/ (Under) % of total
Energy Efficiency


Electric -$                          (2,530,030)$               (2,530,030)$                      22%
Gas 65,878                       -                            65,878                              (1%)


Renewable Energy
Biopower -                            (749,234)                    (749,234)                           6%
Open Solicitation -                            (1,478,553)                 (1,478,553)                        13%
Solar -                            (511,070)                    (511,070)                           4%
Utility Scale -                            (1,506,576)                 (1,506,576)                        13%
Wind -                            (4,854,435)                 (4,854,435)                        42%


Total 65,878$                  (11,629,898)$          (11,564,020)$                 100%  
 


Program delivery efficiency (administrative costs plus program support costs) 
• April is 4.7%. Budgeted at 7.1%. Performance measure is 11.0%. Last year April was 4.9%. Last month’s rate was 4.9%. 








APR MAR DEC Change from Change from
2008 2008 2007 Prior Month Beg. of Year


Current Assets
  Cash & Cash Equivalents* 52,394,272 46,473,470 40,358,008 5,920,803 12,036,264
  Restricted Cash 10,630,616 8,572,833 8,504,055 2,057,783 2,126,561
  Investments* 10,702,731 12,765,910 12,636,975 (2,063,178) (1,934,244)
  Restricted Investments 1,592,653 3,630,922 3,592,594 (2,038,269) (1,999,941)
  Receivables 25,374 17,339 62,208 8,035 (36,835)
  Prepaid Expenses 51,473 29,077 77,175 22,396 (25,702)
  Advances to Vendors 742,109 879,384 922,974 (137,275) (180,865)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
   Total Current Assets 76,139,228 72,368,935 66,153,990 3,770,294 9,985,239


Fixed Assets
  Program Equipment 39,307 -                        -                        39,307 39,307
  Computer Hardware and Software 897,961 897,961 885,669 -                        12,292
  Leasehold Improvements 113,343 113,343 113,343 -                        -                        
  Office Equipment and Furniture 41,323 41,323 41,323 -                        0


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Fixed Assets 1,091,933 1,052,626 1,040,334 39,307 51,599
  Less Depreciation (932,284) (925,532) (905,274) (6,753) (27,011)


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Net Fixed Assets 159,649 127,095 135,061 32,554 24,588


Other Assets
  Rental Deposit 26,000 26,000 26,000 -                        0
  Deferred Compensation Asset 65,173 58,843 49,684 6,330 15,489


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Other Assets 91,173 84,843 75,684 6,330 15,489


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Assets 76,390,050 72,580,872 66,364,735 3,809,178 10,025,315


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


Current Liabilities
  Accounts Payable and Accruals 3,224,512 2,176,104 6,236,442 1,048,408 (3,011,930)
  Salaries, Taxes, & Benefits Payable 304,999 303,426 275,553 1,574 29,446
  Deferred/Unearned Revenue -                        -                        -                        -                        0


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Current Liabilities 3,529,511 2,479,529 6,511,995 1,049,981 (2,982,484)


Long Term Liabilities
   Deferred Rent 161,896 164,280 171,430 (2,384) (9,534)
   Deferred Compensation Payable 65,173 58,843 49,684 6,330 15,489
   Other Long-Term Liabilities 12,386 12,386 12,386 -                        0


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Long-Term Liabilities 239,455 235,509 233,501 3,947 5,955


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities 3,768,966 2,715,038 6,745,496 1,053,928 (2,976,530)


Net Assets
  Current Year Inc/ Dec Unrestricted Net Assets 12,875,225 10,139,489 18,218,854 2,735,736 (5,343,629)
  Board Designated Net Assets - Escrow accts 12,223,269 12,203,755 12,096,649 19,514 126,620
  Board Designated Net Assets - PGE -                        -                        -                        -                        0
  Unrestricted Net Assets-Beginning of Year 47,522,590 47,522,590 29,303,736 -                        18,218,854
  Temp Restricted Net Assets-Beg of Year -                        -                        -                        -                        0


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Net Assets 72,621,084 69,865,834 59,619,239 2,755,250 13,001,845


------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------
     Total Liabilities and Net Assets 76,390,050 72,580,872 66,364,735 3,809,178 10,025,315


============== ============== ============== ============== ==============


*Although not escrowed, these funds are committed via the budget process for approved programs.
BS-Acct-YTD-001


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
BALANCE SHEET


April 30, 2008
(Unaudited)







 January February March April Year to Date


Operating Activities:


Revenue less Expenses 3,594,796$      3,757,295$      2,894,504$      2,755,250$      13,001,845$     


Non-cash items:
Depreciation 6,752              6,753              6,753              6,752              27,010              
Deferred Rent Amortization (2,383)             (2,384)             (2,383)             (2,384)             (9,534)              


Change in balance sheet accounts:
Interest Receivable 2,041              4,357              (1,178)             (8,085)             (2,865)              
Other Receivables 42,200             (4,645)             2,094              50                   39,699              
Advances to Vendors 282,109           278,827           (517,346)          137,275           180,865            
Other Assets 16,618             4,373              17,949             (28,724)           10,216              
A/P - Program Subcontracts 155,879           (184,085)          (726,125)          1,104,414        350,083            
A/P - Incentives (2,935,248)       (335,765)          -                  -                  (3,271,013)        
A/P - Professional Services 10,199             2,242              14,854             (9,175)             18,120              
A/P - Operations (61,703)           (43,861)           43,275             (46,831)           (109,120)           
Payroll and related accruals 26,392             11,599             (960)                7,903              44,934              
Other long-term liabilities -                  -                  -                  -                  -                   


Cash rec'd from / (used in)
         Operating Activies 1,137,652        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,916,445        10,280,239       


Investing Activites:


(Acquisition)/Disposal of Capital Assets (12,292)           -                  -                  (39,307)           (51,599)             
Cash used in Investing Activities (12,292)           -                  -                  (39,307)           (51,599)             


Cash at beginning of Period 65,091,632      66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      65,091,632       


Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 1,125,360        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,877,138        10,228,640       


Cash at end of period 66,216,992$    69,711,698$    71,443,134$    75,320,272$    75,320,272$     


Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Statement-Indirect Method


Monthly 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals plus Forecasts


2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008


January February March April May June July August September October November December


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC 6,508,323        7,337,337        7,345,672        6,757,067        5,818,618        5,598,849        5,426,507        6,176,860        6,710,983        6,535,195        6,609,042        7,512,149        


  Investment Income 224,303           209,380           167,751           138,724           158,918           135,832           132,429           128,674           124,777           121,191           117,405           112,509           


Total cash in 6,732,626        7,546,717        7,513,423        6,895,791        5,977,537        5,734,681        5,558,936        6,305,534        6,835,761        6,656,386        6,726,447        7,624,658        


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts 1,148,277        1,504,786        2,914,937        406,287           2,019,578        2,440,355        1,622,967        1,820,642        2,626,587        1,820,642        1,849,478        2,605,431        


    Incentives 3,718,094        1,618,433        1,987,756        1,790,004        3,584,512        3,642,835        4,131,382        5,328,811        5,280,495        6,497,836        6,945,501        6,645,517        


    Salaries and related expense 379,836           430,496           449,836           441,158           625,635           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           510,779           


    Professional services 176,920           354,775           384,226           254,251           44,338            245,076           622,138           616,138           630,088           630,088           633,588           597,260           


    General operating expenses 184,139           143,521           45,232            126,953           184,043           218,221           177,074           170,359           190,702           164,365           159,223           154,025           


Total cash out 5,607,266        4,052,011        5,781,987        3,018,653        6,458,107        7,057,265        7,064,339        8,446,729        9,238,650        9,623,710        10,098,568      10,513,012      


Net cash flow for the month 1,125,360        3,494,706        1,731,436        3,877,138        (480,570)          (1,322,584)       (1,505,404)       (2,141,195)       (2,402,890)       (2,967,324)       (3,372,121)       (2,888,354)       


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM 65,091,632      66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      74,839,702      73,517,118      72,011,714      69,870,520      67,467,630      64,500,306      61,128,185      


Ending cash & MM 66,216,992      69,711,698      71,443,134      75,320,272      74,839,702      73,517,118      72,011,714      69,870,520      67,467,630      64,500,306      61,128,185      58,239,831      


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance 12,096,649      12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      12,109,267      11,973,354      11,731,240      11,617,825      11,535,973      11,314,410      11,216,806      


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding (136,607)          (158,020)          (263,467)          (134,058)          (102,106)          (241,212)          (116,616)          (79,357)           


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances 43,071            32,859            31,176            19,514            22,605            22,107            21,353            20,643            20,254            19,649            19,012            18,696            


Ending Escrow Balance1
12,139,720      12,172,579      12,203,755      12,223,269      12,109,267      11,973,354      11,731,240      11,617,825      11,535,973      11,314,410      11,216,806      11,156,145      


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


Actual Budget 2008-B-03 (with 838)







Energy Trust of Oregon
Cash Flow Projection
January 2008 - December 2009
Based on Actuals plus Forecasts


Cash In:


  Public purpose funding and CRC


  Investment Income


Total cash in


Cash Out:


    Program Subcontracts


    Incentives


    Salaries and related expense


    Professional services


    General operating expenses


Total cash out


Net cash flow for the month


Beginning Balance: Cash & MM


Ending cash & MM


Escrow Cash Balance
Beginning Balance


Net Escrow (Payments)/Funding


Interest Paid on Escrow Balances


Ending Escrow Balance1


1Included in "Ending cash & MM" above


2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009


January February March April May June July August September October November December


8,853,623     9,553,158     9,035,582     8,250,214     7,222,953     6,923,557     6,716,505     6,974,192     6,954,888         6,778,556     6,865,520        7,839,100       


108,107       112,729       124,003       133,155       140,728       145,731       148,939       152,898       156,214           156,968       156,405          145,313          


8,961,730     9,665,887     9,159,584     8,383,369     7,363,680     7,069,289     6,865,444     7,127,090     7,111,102         6,935,524     7,021,924        7,984,413       


1,851,782     2,693,703     2,479,263     1,721,914     1,797,626     2,535,472     1,797,626     1,849,178     2,566,258         1,849,178     2,154,603        2,871,683       


8,362,212     2,133,086     2,632,998     3,611,918     3,149,363     3,764,520     4,330,032     3,904,598     4,371,477         6,022,123     5,940,951        15,961,854     


541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604       541,604           541,604       541,604          541,604          


597,810       608,760       545,318       505,318       505,318       501,773       495,173       499,173       508,363           508,363       522,913          516,140          


204,673       170,957       160,509       162,489       153,108       148,787       149,988       146,052       162,113           167,886       155,553          155,302          


11,558,082   6,148,111     6,359,692     6,543,243     6,147,020     7,492,157     7,314,425     6,940,606     8,149,816         9,089,155     9,315,625        20,046,582     


(2,596,352)    3,517,776     2,799,892     1,840,126     1,216,661     (422,868)      (448,981)      186,484       (1,038,714)       (2,153,631)    (2,293,700)       (12,062,169)    


58,239,831   55,643,479   59,161,254   61,961,147   63,801,273   65,017,934   64,595,065   64,146,084   64,332,568       63,293,854   61,140,223      58,846,523     


55,643,479   59,161,254   61,961,147   63,801,273   65,017,934   64,595,065   64,146,084   64,332,568   63,293,854       61,140,223   58,846,523      46,784,354     


11,156,145   11,096,524   11,009,135   10,852,669   10,634,113   10,513,759   10,371,468   10,122,950   10,003,107       9,914,800     9,686,756        9,582,645       


(78,077)        (105,552)      (174,143)      (235,484)      (136,607)      (158,020)      (263,467)      (134,058)      (102,106)          (241,212)      (116,616)         (79,357)          


18,456         18,163         17,677         16,929         16,253         15,729         14,949         14,214         13,799             13,168         12,506            12,164           


11,096,524   11,009,135   10,852,669   10,634,113   10,513,759   10,371,468   10,122,950   10,003,107   9,914,800         9,686,756     9,582,645        9,515,452       


Projection 2009-P-03 (with 838)







The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
INCOME STATEMENT - ACTUAL AND YTD COMPARISON


For the Four Months Ending April 30, 2008
(Unaudited)


April YTD
Actual Budget Variance Actual Budget Variance


REVENUES


Public Purpose Funds-PGE 3,086,533 3,105,091 (18,558) 12,957,720 12,975,906 (18,186)


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 1,752,112 1,916,747 (164,635) 7,887,817 7,811,317 76,499


Public Purpose Funds-NW Natural 1,092,510 991,716 100,794 5,277,353 5,060,016 217,337


Public Purpose Funds-Cascade 115,635 95,004 20,630 555,382 503,505 51,877


Public Purpose Funds-PacifiCorp 838 710,277 577,104 133,173 1,270,126 1,093,135 176,991
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


Total Public Purpose Funds 6,757,067 6,685,662 71,405 27,948,398 27,443,879 504,519


Revenue from Investments 146,809 186,888 (40,079) 743,023 810,792 (67,769)
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


TOTAL REVENUE 6,903,876 6,872,550 31,326 28,691,421 28,254,672 436,749
============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============


EXPENSES


Program Subcontracts 1,648,026 1,944,801 296,775 6,544,933 7,211,769 666,835


Incentives 1,790,004 5,009,632 3,219,627 5,843,273 15,116,530 9,273,257


Salaries and Related Expenses 449,061 510,779 61,718 1,746,260 2,043,114 296,854


Professional Services 245,076 642,088 397,012 1,188,292 2,231,835 1,043,544


Supplies 3,454 4,075 621 14,154 25,800 11,646


Telephone 3,279 4,725 1,446 14,338 18,900 4,562


Postage and Shipping Expenses 1,158 5,496 4,338 7,503 21,983 14,480


Occupancy Expenses (65,844) 28,501 94,345 9,470 114,003 104,533


Noncapitalized Equipment & Depreciation 16,241 24,044 7,803 70,349 108,905 38,556


Call Center 14,316 18,123 3,807 51,518 71,553 20,034


Printing and Publications 13,008 16,785 3,778 60,831 67,142 6,310


Travel 6,890 14,779 7,889 33,317 57,116 23,799


Conference, Training & Meeting Expenses 16,561 26,413 9,852 57,866 103,400 45,534


Insurance 5,001 8,000 2,999 20,760 32,000 11,240


Miscellaneous Expenses 180 217 37 1,135 867 (268)


Dues, Licenses and Fees 2,217 6,447 4,230 25,576 28,688 3,112
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 4,148,626 8,264,903 4,116,277 15,689,576 27,253,606 11,564,030
============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 2,755,250 (1,392,354) 4,147,604 13,001,845 1,001,066 12,000,779
============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============


IS-Acct-YTD-001







Energy Renewable Total Program Management Communication Total Admin
Efficiency Energy Expenses & General & Outreach Expenses Total


Program Expenses


Incentives/ Program Management & Delivery 11,938,242 449,965 12,388,207 -                           12,388,207
Payroll and Related Expenses 417,603 258,765 676,368 390,015 109,967 499,982 1,176,350
Outsourced Services 610,431 191,812 802,243 80,436 110,360 190,796 993,039
Planning and Evaluation 253,995 57,270 311,265 4,078 376 4,454 315,719
Customer Service Management 176,309 10,310 186,619 -                           186,619


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Expenses 13,396,580 968,122 14,364,702 474,529 220,703 695,232 15,059,934


Program Support Costs


Supplies 3,462 2,265 5,727 2,865 1,185 4,050 9,777
Postage and Shipping Expenses 879 612 1,491 1,515 3,100 4,615 6,106
Telephone 990 921 1,911 719 110 829 2,740
Printing and Publications 27,096 6,930 34,026 1,149 21,856 23,005 57,031
Occupancy Expenses 2,227 1,322 3,549 1,823 559 2,382 5,931
Insurance 4,882 2,897 7,779 3,997 1,225 5,222 13,001
Equipment 2,023 4,296 6,319 1,558 498 2,056 8,375
Travel 14,637 6,352 20,989 4,351 1,463 5,814 26,803
Meetings, Trainings & Conferences 15,687 5,777 21,464 19,154 2,151 21,305 42,769
Interest Expense and Bank Fees 0 -                           -                           
Depreciation & Amortization 972                          3,268                       4,240 796 244 1,040 5,280
Dues, Licenses and Fees 20,142                      526                          20,668 3,275 1,141 4,416 25,084
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,120                       3                              1,123 4 1 5 1,128
IT Services 291,711                    48,158                      339,869 58,285 27,463 85,748 425,617


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
Total Program Support Costs 385,828 83,327 469,155 99,491 60,996 160,487 629,642


---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ------------------------------- ----------------------------
TOTAL EXPENSES 13,782,408 1,051,449 14,833,857 574,020 281,699 855,719 15,689,576


=============== =============== =============== =============== =============== ================= ===============


PUC Performance Measure 11.0%


Administrative plus Program Support Costs 4.7%
Exp-Acct-YTD-002


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Statement of Functional Expenses


For the Month Ending April 30, 2008







ENERGY EFFICIENCY RENEWABLE ENERGY TOTAL
PGE PacifiCorp NW Natural Cascade Avista Total PGE PacifiCorp Total Other All Programs


REVENUES
Public Purpose Funding $10,028,243 $7,329,453 $5,277,353 $555,382 $23,190,430 $2,929,477 $1,828,490 $4,757,968 $27,948,398
Revenue from Investments 743,023 743,023


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 10,028,243 7,329,453 5,277,353 555,382 23,190,430 2,929,477 1,828,490 4,757,968 743,023 28,691,421
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


EXPENSES
  Program Management (Note 3) 475,638 248,369 262,474 25,549 2,054 1,014,084 144,208 114,556 258,764 1,272,848
  Program Delivery 2,739,105 1,605,576 700,838 87,928 7,793 5,141,240 11,063 11,828 22,891 5,164,131
  Incentives 2,155,212 1,385,738 1,776,053 89,379 9,820 5,416,202 207,727 219,347 427,074 5,843,276
  Program Evaluation & Planning Svcs. 258,519 129,766 164,587 9,423 403 562,697 34,011 24,676 58,687 621,384
  Program Marketing/Outreach 513,546 229,359 191,709 26,155 2,628 963,397 28,099 27,268 55,367 1,018,764
  Program Legal Services 203 105 159 11 1 480 6,898 43 6,941 7,421
  Program Quality Assurance 12,110 5,812 16,048 684 6 34,660 522 4,068 4,590 39,250
  Outsourced  Services 40,742 23,795 19,992 2,951 33 87,513 78,966 44,531 123,497 211,010
  Trade Allies & Customer Svc. Mgmt. 60,381 31,100 80,843 3,855 129 176,308 4,876 5,434 10,310 186,618
  IT Services 130,112 68,614 86,172 6,264 549 291,711 27,642 20,516 48,158 339,869
  Other Program Expenses 42,488 25,925 24,156 1,458 90 94,116 21,020 14,150 35,170 129,286


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


  TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES 6,428,056 3,754,157 3,323,032 253,657 23,505 13,782,408 565,032 486,417 1,051,449 14,833,857
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
  Management & General (Note 1 & 2) 248,744 145,273 128,590 9,816 910 533,332 21,865 18,823 40,688 574,020
  Communication & Outreach (Note 1 & 2) 122,071 71,292 63,105 4,817 446 261,732 10,730 9,237 19,967 281,699


--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


  Total Administrative Costs 370,814 216,565 191,695 14,633 1,356 795,064 32,595 28,060 60,655 855,719
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


  TOTAL PROG & ADMIN EXPENSES 6,798,870 3,970,722 3,514,727 268,290 24,861 14,577,472 597,627 514,477 1,112,104 15,689,576
--------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


TOTAL REVENUE LESS EXPENSES 3,229,373 3,358,731 1,762,626 287,092 (24,861) 8,612,958 2,331,850 1,314,013 3,645,864 743,023 13,001,845
=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


Cumulative Carryover at 12/31/07 (Note 4) 15,159,080 (7,429,746) 7,412,993 446,188 189,069 15,777,584 24,097,512 12,197,854 36,295,366 7,546,288 59,619,238
Interest attributed 1,740,000 1,160,000 2,900,000 1,700,000 1,700,000 (4,600,000)


=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========


 TOTAL NET ASSETS CUMULATIVE 20,128,453 (2,911,015) 9,175,619 733,280 164,208 27,290,542 26,429,362 15,211,867 41,641,230 3,689,311 72,621,084


Note 1) Both Management & General and Communication & Outreach Expenses (Administrative) have been allocated based on total expenses.
Note 2) Administrative costs are allocated for management reporting only.  GAAP for Not for Profit organizations does not allow allocation of administrative costs to program expenses.
Note 3) Program Management costs include both outsourced and internal staff.
Note 4) Cumulative carryover at 12/31/2007 reflects audited results.


IS-ST-YTD-001-bu


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc


(Unaudited)
For the Four Months Ending April 30, 2008


Year to Date by Program / Service Territory - joint costs allocated at program level







Pacific Subtotal Northwest Subtotal YTD
PGE Power Elec. Utilities Natural Gas Cascade Avista Gas Providers Total Budget Variance


Energy Efficiency


Commercial
Business Energy Solutions - Existing Buildings 1,130,589 348,986 1,479,575 537,745 36,359 574,104 2,053,679 2,394,587           340,908              
Business Energy Solutions - New Buildings 977,027 386,063 1,363,090 323,799 14,998 338,797 1,701,887 2,066,538           364,651              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 266,180 200,803 466,983 -                         466,983 520,546              53,563                


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------


  Total Commercial 2,373,796     935,852        3,309,648       861,544        51,357    -          912,901           4,222,549     4,981,671     759,122        


Industrial
Business Energy Solutions - Production Efficiency 915,301 947,041 1,862,342 17,546 17,546 1,879,888 2,721,315           841,427              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 174,146 131,373 305,519 -                         305,519 341,782              36,263                


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------


  Total Industrial 1,089,447     1,078,414     2,167,861       17,546          -          -          17,546             2,185,407     3,063,097     877,690        


Residential
Home Energy Solutions - Existing Homes 1,219,077 635,476 1,854,553 2,109,549 83,235 2,192,784 4,047,337 4,580,136           532,799              
Home Energy Solutions - New Homes/Products 1,951,271 1,196,298 3,147,569 526,088 133,698 24,861 684,647 3,832,216 4,049,307           217,091              
Market Transformation (NEEA) 165,279 124,684 289,963 -                         289,963 367,413              77,450                


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------


  Total Residential 3,335,627     1,956,458     5,292,085       2,635,637     216,933  24,861    2,877,431        8,169,516     8,996,856     827,340        


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------


  Total Energy Efficiency Costs 6,798,870     3,970,724     10,769,594     3,514,727     268,290  24,861    3,807,878        14,577,472   17,041,624   2,464,152     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------


Renewables
Biopower 123,084 42,392 165,476 -                         165,476 914,709              749,233              
Open Solicitation 83,501 92,739 176,240 -                         176,240 1,654,793           1,478,553           
Solar Electric (Photovoltaic) 292,423 325,843 618,266 -                         618,266 1,129,336           511,070              
Utility Scale Projects 16,972 5,817 22,789 -                         22,789 1,529,365           1,506,576           
Wind 81,647 47,686 129,333 -                         129,333 4,983,768           4,854,435           


-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------


  Total Renewables Costs 597,627        514,477        1,112,104       -               -          -          -                   1,112,104     10,211,971   9,099,867     
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------ --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------


  Cost Grand Total 7,396,497     4,485,201     11,881,698     3,514,727     268,290  24,861    3,807,878        15,689,576   27,253,595   11,564,019   


The Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc
Program Expenses by Service Territory (Includes Allocated Administratve Expenses)


For the Month Ending April 30, 2008







Energy Trust of Oregon, Inc.
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES


For the Month and Year to Date Ended April 30, 2008
(Unaudited)


MANAGEMENT & GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS & OUTREACH


YTD YTD
MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER MONTHLY QUARTERLY QUARTER
ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGET REMAINING ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE


EXPENSES


Outsourced Services $26,430 $90,447 $64,017 $73,050 $123,263 $50,213 $34,422 $102,255 $67,833 $110,360 $136,340 $25,980


Legal Services 608 10,125 9,517 7,386 13,500 6,114 1,875 1,875 2,500 2,500


Salaries & Related Expenses 102,613 315,715 213,102 390,015 420,953 30,939 29,338 91,566 62,228 109,967 122,088 12,121


Supplies 285 1,425 1,140 856 1,900 1,044 132 300 168 569 400 (169)


Telephone 300 300 359 400 41


Postage & Shipping Expenses 314 675 361 795 900 105 5,113 5,113 2,880 6,817 3,937


Noncapitalized Equipment 1,200 1,200 300 300 20 400 380


Printing and Publications 125 125 170 167 (4) 4,896 12,313 7,416 21,556 16,417 (5,139)


Travel 1,537 11,475 9,938 4,351 15,300 10,949 869 1,850 981 1,463 2,467 1,004


Conference, Training & Mtngs 4,126 31,187 27,062 19,154 41,583 22,429 3,625 3,625 2,151 4,833 2,683


Miscellaneous Expenses 25 25 33 33


Dues, Licenses and Fees 1,113 3,069 1,956 3,275 4,272 997 79 1,250 1,171 1,141 1,667 526


Shared Allocation (Note 1) (10,473) 28,475 38,948 12,246 37,966 25,721 (3,774) 10,017 13,791 3,754 13,355 9,601


IT Service Allocation (Note 2) 13,789 66,151 52,362 58,285 75,108 16,822 6,497 31,169 24,672 27,463 35,389 7,926


Planning & Eval (Note 3) 904 4,929 4,025 4,078 6,446 2,368 83 455 371 376 595 218
--------------------- ------------------------ ---------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ----------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ---------------------


TOTAL EXPENSES 141,371 564,124 422,753 574,020 742,991 168,971 72,543 262,087 189,544 281,699 343,267 61,568
============ ============= ============ =========== =========== =========== =========== ============= ============ =========== =========== ===========


Note 1) Represents allocation of Shared (General Office Management) Costs
Note 2) Represents allocation of Shared IT Costs
Note 3) Represents allocation of Planning & Evaluations Costs


Administrative Expenses 1st Month of Quarter
Exp-Prog-YTD-001







Cumulative Revenue & Expenses
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$5


$10


$15


$20


$25


$30


$35


January February March April


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual
Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Total Revenue & Expenses - Actual vs Budget 
2008


$-
$1
$2
$3
$4
$5
$6
$7
$8
$9


January February March April


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Revenue Budget Revenue Actual Expenses Budget Expenses Actual


Incentives
Budget vs. Actual


2008


$-


$1


$2


$3


$4


January February March April


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


) Budget


Actual


Cumulative Incentives
Budget vs Actual


2008


$-


$2


$4


$6


$8


$10


$12


$14


$16


January February March April


(i
n 


m
ill


io
ns


)


Budget


Actual








R00407 5/20/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 5/20/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 4/30/08 Page 1 of 3


Contractor Description


Administration


Administration Total:  4,198,523  1,356,429  2,842,094


Communications & Outreach


Communications Total:  1,034,428  496,201  538,227


Energy Efficiency Programs


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


Market transformation 1/1/05 12/31/2010 19,090,000  10,910,820  8,179,180


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. New Homes and Products - 


PMC


1/1/07 12/31/2008 6,326,527  8,573,154 -2,246,627


Conservations Services Group, Inc. HES PMC Contract 1/1/08 12/31/2010 4,688,812  1,223,765  3,465,047


Science Applications International 


Corporation


2008 NBE PMC 1/1/08 12/31/2008 2,650,500  650,118  2,000,382


Lockheed Martin Services, Inc. BE PMC contract 1/1/08 12/31/2010 2,410,128  607,684  1,802,444


Portland General Electric PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008 890,000  307,122  582,878


RHT Energy Solutions PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008 882,200  289,557  592,643


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 12/1/07 12/31/2010 650,000  194,472  455,528


Research Into Action, Inc. 2006-07 EB Impact/Process 


Eval


10/11/07 06/30/2009 355,000  86,809  268,191


City of Portland Office of Sust Green Building Investment 


Fund


1/1/07 12/31/2008 300,000  150,000  150,000


ADM Associates, Inc. 2007 NBE Impact/Process Eval 9/1/07 06/30/2009 290,000  174,746  115,254


Portland Energy Conservation, Inc. BTO 2007 1/1/07 12/31/2008 261,586  101,137  160,449


Evergreen Consulting Group, LLC Lighting Consultant 1/1/08 12/31/2008 247,751  55,026  192,725


Research Into Action, Inc. PE Process & Impact 


Evaluation


8/6/07 08/31/2008 240,000  190,786  49,214


Cascade Energy Engineering, Inc. PDC - PE 1/1/08 12/31/2008 215,000  67,047  147,953


ECONorthwest HES Impact & Process Eval. 5/25/07 06/28/2008 210,000  173,071  36,929


PacifiCorp Consumer Info Transfer 8/15/03 08/15/2010 137,500  60,228  77,272


Apogee Interactive, Inc. Internet Energy Audit provider 5/1/08 04/30/2009 123,000  33,167  89,833


Delta-T, Inc. Professional Services 1/1/06 12/31/2008 90,000  49,874  40,126


J. Hruska Global HES QA services 1/1/08 12/31/2008 80,000  28,049  51,951


PMConsulting, Inc. Professional Services 4/17/07 03/31/2009 77,300  41,740  35,560


Ecotope, Inc. New Comm. Bldg. Baseline 


eval


6/20/06 06/30/2008 74,000  62,400  11,600


Dethman & Associates Global warming & EE report 1/4/08 04/30/2008 58,000  29,909  28,091


Five Stars International, Ltd. SHOW program 10/1/07 09/30/2008 57,000  9,985  47,015


Weyerhaeuser Company Albany CHP feasibilty study 3/20/08 03/19/2009 50,000  0  50,000


Blue Ocean Events LLC Better Living Show 2008 11/1/07 12/31/2008 50,000  50,000  0


New Buildings Institute Oregon Core Performance Prjct 2/26/08 09/30/2008 48,400  0  48,400


Corvallis Environmental Center Corvallis initiative consult. 3/1/08 03/01/2009 44,300  9,562  34,738


The Cadmus Group Inc. Compressed air market study 1/15/08 07/31/2008 40,000  0  40,000


Catherine Scott Residential contractor 10/8/07 12/31/2008 32,000  15,110  16,890


Stellar Processes, Inc. Heat Pump tune-up evaluation 11/1/07 01/31/2009 30,000  440  29,560


Blue Line Innovations, Inc. Blue Line energy monitors 1/1/08 12/31/2008 21,000  4,800  16,200


KEMA Incorporated Change A Light Evaluation 9/1/07 06/30/2008 20,000  5,010  14,990


DE Solutions, Inc. Planning Services 11/12/07 10/31/2008 20,000  3,675  16,325


Northwest Energy Efficiency 


Alliance


OHSU Bldg Performance 


Review


4/19/07 06/30/2008 17,000  17,000  0


Daily Journal of Commerce Daily Journal advertising 2008 1/25/08 12/31/2008 15,400  3,054  12,346


City of Portland Office of Sust 2008 OSD Sponsorship 3/20/08 03/20/2009 15,000  15,000  0


NW Natural Washington study 4/18/08 07/01/2008 15,000  264  14,736


Lane Community College 2008 Scholarships 1/14/08 12/31/2008 11,800  0  11,800


Stellar Processes, Inc. Dimmable LED kitchen cans 3/1/08 01/30/2009 10,000  0  10,000


American Council for and Energy 


Efficient Economy


Emerging/underuntilized tech. 3/20/08 03/31/2009 10,000  0  10,000


ECONorthwest New Building services 12/1/07 11/30/2008 10,000  4,576  5,424


Earth Advantage, Inc. Program Sponsorship 


agreement


1/2/08 01/01/2009 10,000  10,000  0







R00407 5/20/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 5/20/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 4/30/08 Page 2 of 3


Contractor Description


Mike Fenske PE Consulting 2/1/08 02/28/2009 5,000  2,300  2,700


Energy Efficiency Total:  40,879,204  24,211,456  16,667,747


Joint Programs


Stellar Processes, Inc. Resource Assessment 2007 8/21/07 09/30/2008 93,150  23,856  69,294


Stellar Processes, Inc. Evaluation services 1/1/06 12/31/2008 92,767  37,297  55,470


Research Into Action, Inc. Res. Awareness Survey 4/1/08 09/30/2008 70,000  0  70,000


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RE Consultant Services 1/1/06 12/31/2008 68,440  25,639  42,802


HST&V, LLC Planning Services 1/1/06 12/31/2008 57,550  15,678  41,873


Ecotope, Inc. Planning Services 4/1/06 03/31/2009 51,830  12,359  39,471


Platts E-Source Membership 5/1/05 04/30/2009 45,325  33,040  12,285


ICF Resources, LLC Professional Services 4/19/07 12/31/2008 42,500  39,325  3,175


ECONorthwest Economic Impact Analysis 2007 2/15/08 05/31/2008 24,000  15,958  8,042


Susan Badger-Jones trade ally development 11/10/07 12/31/2008 24,000  19,787  4,213


Joint Programs Total:  569,562  222,939  346,623


Renewable Energy Program


Portland General Electric PGE Bigelow Phase 1 6/18/07 06/30/2028 6,000,000  6,000,000  0


PacifiCorp Goodnoe Hills East 9/20/06 07/01/2008 4,500,000  0  4,500,000


Rough & Ready Lumber Company Biopower Funding Agreement 7/21/06 07/21/2026 1,685,088  0  1,685,088


City of Albany Hydroelectric Project 2/17/04 02/17/2025 475,000  0  475,000


University of Oregon Solar Monitoring 2/21/03 02/21/2009 386,266  335,174  51,092


City of Portland Columbia Blvd. WWTP 


Biopower


2/24/06 05/31/2028 362,000  0  362,000


Oregon State University Anemometer Loan Program 10/1/02 09/30/2008 266,529  260,846  5,684


TSS Renewables, Inc. biopower services 4/1/08 03/31/2010 148,832  0  148,832


David Barenberg dba Barenberg & 


Associates


Professional Services - RE 5/10/07 04/30/2008 90,000  59,226  30,774


CH2M Hill, Inc. Professional Services 3/1/05 12/31/2008 87,700  74,261  13,439


Excidian LLC RE CE spreadsheet review 11/21/07 12/31/2008 85,150  51,624  33,526


Stoller Vineyards, Inc. Stoller Vineyards PV 12/1/05 12/01/2026 79,815  40,507  39,308


BioContractors, Inc. RE Technical Consultant Srvs 3/14/06 03/31/2009 71,500  18,525  52,975


Summit Blue Consulting, LLC RE New Markets Study 3/19/08 08/31/2008 65,000  1,416  63,584


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer Installation 4/15/08 07/31/2008 56,898  0  56,898


Oregon Assoc. of Clean Water 


Agencies


WWTP efficiency studies 1/28/08 06/30/2008 50,000  0  50,000


Oregon Dairy Farmers Association Tech. Assist. & Fac. Services 6/15/07 07/14/2008 49,600  34,469  15,131


Hat Trick Energy & Environmental 


Consulting, LLC


RE Professional Services 4/27/07 06/30/2008 45,900  34,200  11,700


Evergreen Energy Corporation Renewable energy consultant 12/17/07 12/31/2008 43,000  18,010  24,990


Clean Power Research, LLC Solar PV software/services 9/1/06 08/31/2008 40,500  8,788  31,712


Clean Energy States Alliance CESA Year 5 (2008) 7/1/07 06/30/2008 38,391  31,992  6,399


Solar Consulting Services, LLC Solar Consulting Services 8/6/07 07/31/2008 37,000  13,000  24,000


City of Portland Bureau of 


Maintenance


Sunderland Yard Wind System 4/28/05 04/28/2025 36,117  0  36,117


Selma Community & Education 


Center


7kW PV Three Rivers School 12/10/04 12/10/2029 35,000  0  35,000


Harold Hartman dba Lynhart Farms 17.5 kW PV project 5/25/07 05/25/2027 32,500  0  32,500


Evergreen Energy Corporation Geothermal electric project 4/1/08 08/31/2008 30,000  0  30,000


Tualatin Valley Water District Hydro Turbine Study 2/12/08 07/31/2008 30,000  0  30,000


Northwest SEED RE Professional Services 10/1/06 10/31/2008 28,200  23,828  4,373


Multnomah Board of County 


Commissioners


Wind Power feasibility study 8/29/07 06/01/2008 25,000  0  25,000


Robert Migliori 42kW wind energy system 4/11/07 12/31/2022 24,125  0  24,125


Global Energy Concepts, LLC Renewable Energy Consultant 5/9/06 12/31/2008 22,845  9,365  13,480


Talent Irrigation District Talent Irrigation Hydro Study 2/15/07 05/01/2008 20,000  0  20,000


CH2M Hill, Inc. CH2M Hill RETAA 3/21/07 12/31/2008 16,900  10,622  6,278


HDR Engineering, Inc. RETAA - open solicitation 11/19/07 06/30/2008 16,619  13,833  2,786


3EStrategies primary partner sponsorship 3/21/08 12/31/2008 15,000  0  15,000







R00407 5/20/2008Data Date:Energy Trust of Oregon


Schedule of Commitments 5/20/2008Report Date:


Est Cost Actual TTD Remaining Start End


For contracts with costs 


through: 4/30/08 Page 3 of 3


Contractor Description


ThinkEnergy, Inc. RE Consultant Services 1/25/07 12/31/2008 15,000  4,984  10,016


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC Solar services 11/12/07 10/31/2008 14,500  735  13,765


David Bugni & Associates Suter Creek Micro-hydro proj. 11/1/07 05/31/2028 13,391  0  13,391


Warren Griffin Griffin Wind Project 10/1/05 10/01/2020 13,150  1,588  11,562


Timothy Michael Miller Professional Service 12/6/05 12/31/2008 13,000  10,753  2,247


Sustainable Industries Journal Advertising 1/1/08 12/31/2008 9,100  3,500  5,600


Ed Sheets Renewable Energy Consulting 5/31/06 05/31/2008 8,000  0  8,000


Ron Nierenberg RETAA 8/31/07 08/31/2008 5,600  4,550  1,050


Crystal Springs Water District Crystal Springs Water study 3/18/08 09/30/2008 5,000  0  5,000


Oregon Economic & Community 


Development Department


OEDD Renewable energy fund 


MOU


10/4/06 10/31/2008 5,000  0  5,000


Cascade Solar Consulting, LLC RETAA 6/7/07 05/31/2009 4,800  2,816  1,984


Mayfield Solar Design, LLC RETAA (Solar) 11/12/07 10/31/2008 3,500  3,154  346


Oregon Power Solutions, Inc. Anemometer installer 10/3/07 09/30/2008 1,590  996  595


Advanced Energy Systems, LLC Community Wind contractor 9/25/07 08/31/2008 960  960  0


Renewable Energy Total:  15,109,066  7,073,719  8,035,348


 61,790,783  33,360,744  28,430,040Grand Totals:








 
 
Financial Glossary 
(for internal use) - updated February 11, 2008 
 
Administrative Costs 


• Costs that, by nonprofit accounting standards, are not program services and are not directly 
attributed to programs—i.e. management and general and general communication and outreach 
expenses 


I. Management and General  
• Includes oversight/board activities, interest/financing costs, accounting, payroll, board, 


human resources, general legal support, and other general organizational management 
costs. 


• These costs are determined by the general makeup of the programs.  
• Does not include indirect costs such as facilities, telephone, etc. (However, M&G does 


receive an allocated share of such expenses.)General Communications and 
Outreach   
• Expenditures of a general nature, conveying the nonprofit mission of the organization 


and general public awareness.  
• Expenditures are not directed to specific programs.  
• Receives an allocated share of indirect costs. 
 


Allocation 
• A way of grouping costs together and applying them to a program as one pool based upon an 


allocation base that most closely represents the activity driver of the costs in the pool.  
• Used as an alternative to charging programs on an invoice–by–invoice basis for accounting 


efficiency purposes. 
• An example would be accumulating all of the costs associated with customer management (call 


center operations, Energy Trust customer service personnel, complaint tracking, etc). The 
accumulated costs are then spread to the programs that benefited by using the ratio of calls into 
the call center by program (i.e. the allocation base). 


 
Allocation Cost Pools 


• Employee benefits. 
• Employer portion of payroll taxes. 
• Indirect costs-general corporate fixed costs, i.e. rent, utilities, supplies, etc. 
• Customer service and trade ally support costs. 
• General communications and outreach costs. 
• Management and general costs. 
• Planning and evaluation general costs. 
• Shared costs for electric utilities. 
• Shared costs for all utilities. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


2 


Auditor’s Opinion 
• An accountant's or auditor's opinion is a report by an independent CPA presented to the board 


of directors describing the scope of the examination of the organization's books, and certifying 
that the financial statements meet the AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants) requirements of GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles). 


• Depending on the audit findings, the opinion can be unqualified or qualified regarding specific 
items. Energy Trust strives for and has achieved in all its years an unqualified opinion. 


• An unqualified opinion indicates agreement by the auditors that the financial statements present 
an accurate assessment of the organization’s financial results. 


• The OPUC Grant Agreement requires an unqualified opinion regarding Energy Trust’s financial 
records. 


• Failure to follow generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) can result in a qualified 
opinion.  


 
Board-approved Annual Budget 


• Funds approved by the board for expenditures during the budget year (subject to board 
approved program funding caps and associated policy) for the stated functions. 


• Funds approved for capital asset expenditures. 
• Approval of the general allocation of funds including commitments and cash outlays. 
• Approval of expenditures is based on assumed revenues from utilities as forecasted in their 


annual projections of public purpose collections and/or contracted revenues. 
 


Carryover Funds 
• In any one year, the amount by which revenues exceed expenses for that year in a designated 


category that will be added to the cumulative balance and brought forward for expenditure to 
the next budget year.  


• In any one year, if expenditures exceed revenues, the negative difference is applied against the 
cumulative carryover balance.  


• Does not equal the cash on hand due to noncash expense items such as depreciation. 
• Tracked by major utility funder and at high level program area--by EE vs RE, not tracked by 


program. 
 


Commitments  
I. Contract obligations  


• A contract that has been signed creating a legal obligation.  
• Reported in the monthly Schedule of Commitments. 


II. Project commitments (see FastTrack projects forecasting)   
• Commitments made to an electric or gas customer to assist in the funding of a project. 
• Eventually to be posted against the PMC contract and program budget when paid. 
• May be board-designated for a particular program to be expensed in a later financial 


period (i.e. many renewable energy investments). 
• May be escrowed in a special bank account for payment and expense in a later financial 


period. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


3 


Cost-Effectiveness Calculation  
• Programs and measures are evaluated for cost-effectiveness. 
• The cost of program savings must be lower than the cost to produce the energy from both a 


utility and societal perspective.  
• Expressed as a ratio of energy savings cost divided by the presumed avoided utility and societal 


cost of energy.  
• Program cost-effectiveness evaluation is “fully allocated,” i.e. includes all of the program costs 


plus a portion of Energy Trust administrative costs. 
 
Dedicated Funds 


• Used in budgeting process for renewable expenditures to identify encumbered funds. 
• Represents funds obligated or earmarked for identified projects or specific agreements. 
• May include commitments, escrows, contracts, board designations, master agreements. 


 
Direct Program Costs  


• Can be directly linked to and reflect a causal relationship to one individual program/project; or 
can easily be allocated to two or more programs based upon usage, cause, or benefit. 


 
Direct Program Evaluation & Planning Services 


• Evaluation services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in evaluating programs and projects and included in determining total program 


funding caps.  
• Planning services for a specific program rather than for a group of programs. 
• Costs incurred in planning programs and projects and are included in determining program 


funding expenditures and caps. 
• Evaluation and planning services attributable to a number of programs are recorded in a cost 


pool and are subsequently allocated to individual programs. 
 


Escrowed Program (Incentive) Funds 
• Cash deposited into a separate escrow account at a bank that will be paid out pursuant to a 


contractual obligation requiring a certain event or result to occur. Funds can be returned to  
Energy Trust if such event or result does not occur. Therefore, the funds are still “owned” by 
Energy Trust and will remain on the balance sheet.  


• The funds are within the control of the bank in accordance with the terms of the escrow 
agreement.  


• When the event or result occurs, the funds are considered “earned” and are transferred out of 
the escrow account (“paid out”) and then are reflected as an expense on the income statement 
for the current period. 


 
Expenditures/Expenses   


• Amounts for which there is an obligation for payment of goods and/or services that have been 
received or earned within the month or year.  


• Does NOT include cash deposited into an escrow account. 
 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


4 


FastTrack Projects Forecasting  
Module developed in FastTrack to provide information about the timing of future incentive payments, 
with the following definitions: 


• Estimated-Project data may be inaccurate or incomplete. Rough estimate of energy savings, 
incentives and completion date by project and by service territory. 


• Proposed-Project that has received a written incentive offer but no agreement or application 
has been signed. Energy savings, incentives and completion date to be documented by programs 
using this phase. For Renewable projects-project that has received Board approval. 


• Accepted-Used for renewable energy projects in 2nd round of application; projects that have 
reached a stage where approval process can begin. 


• Committed-Project that has a signed agreement or application reserving incentive dollars until 
project completion. Energy savings/generations, incentives and completion date by project and 
by service territory must be documented in project records and in FastTrack. If project not 
demonstrably proceeding within agreed upon time frame, committed funds return to incentive 
pool. Reapplication would then be required. 


• Completed-Project that has received payment from Energy Trust. 
• Program Summary Estimate (PEST)-program level (not specific projects) estimate of forecasted 


incentives and savings. 
 
Incentives 


I. Residential Incentives  
• Incentives paid to a residential program participant (party responsible for payment for 


utility service in particular dwelling unit) exclusively for energy efficiency and renewable 
energy measures in the homes or apartments of such residential customers. 


II. Business Incentives 
• Incentives paid to a participant other than a residential program participant as defined 


above following the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy measure. 
• Above market cost for a particular renewable energy project. 


III. Service Incentives 
• Incentives paid to an installation contractor which serves as a reduction in the final cost 


to the participant for the installation of an energy efficiency or renewable energy 
measure. 


• Payment for services delivered to participants by contractors such as home reviews and 
technical analysis studies. 


• Funds provided to delivery vendors to encourage the energy service providers to 
promote the installation of additional measures by end users. 


• End-user training, enhancing participant technical skills or energy efficiency practices 
proficiency such as “how to” sessions on insulation, weatherization, or high efficiency 
lighting. 


• CFL online home review fulfillment and PMC direct installations. 
• Technical trade ally training to enhance technical competencies. 
• Incentives for equipment purchases by trade allies to garner improvements of services 


and diagnostics delivered to end-users, such as duct sealing, HVAC diagnosis, air 
filtration, etc. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


5 


Indirect Costs 
• Shared joint costs that are “allocated” for accounting purposes rather than assigning individual 


charges to programs.  
• Allocated to all programs and administration functions. 
• Examples include rent/facilities, supplies, computer equipment and support, and depreciation. 


 
IT Support Services  


• Information technology costs incurred as a result of supporting all programs.  
• Includes FastTrack energy savings and incentive tracking software, data tracking support of 


PMCs and for the program evaluation functions. 
• Receives an allocation of indirect shared costs. 
• Total costs subsequently allocated to programs and administrative units 


 
Outsourced Services 


• Miscellaneous professional services contracted to third parties rather than performed by 
internal staff. 


• Can be incurred for program or administrative reasons and will be identified as such. 
 


Program Costs 
• Fulfill the purposes or mission for which the organization exists and are authorized through the 


program approval process.  
• Includes program management, incentives, program staff salaries, planning, evaluation, quality 


assurance, and other costs incurred solely for program purposes. 
• Can be direct or indirect (i.e. allocated based on program usage.) 


 
Program Delivery Expense  


• This will include all PMC labor and direct costs associated with:  incentive processing, program 
coordination, program support, trade ally communications, and program delivery contractors. 


• Includes contract payments to NEEA for market transformation efforts. 
• Includes performance compensation incentives paid to program management contractors under 


contract agreement if certain incentive goals are met. 
• Includes professional services for items such as solar inspections, anemometer maintenance and 


general renewable energy consulting 
 


Program Legal Services 
• External legal expenditures and internal legal services utilized in the development of a program-


specific contract. 
 


Program Management Expense  
• PMC billings associated with program contract oversight, program support, staff management, 


etc. 
• ETO program management staff salaries, taxes and benefits. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


6 


Program Marketing/Outreach 
• PMC labor and direct costs associated with marketing/outreach/awareness efforts to 


communicate program opportunities and benefits to rate payers/program participants. 
• Awareness campaigns and outreach efforts designed to reach participants of individual programs. 
• Co-op advertising with trade allies and vendors to promote a particular program benefit to the 


public. 
 


Program Quality Assurance 
• Independent in-house or outsourced services for the quality assurance efforts of a particular 


program (distinguished from program quality control). 
 


Program Support Costs 
• Source of information is contained in statement of functional expense report. 
• Portion of costs in OPUC performance measure for program administration and support costs. 


 Includes expenses incurred directly by the program. 
 Includes allocation of shared and indirect costs incurred in the following categories:  


supplies; postage and shipping; telephone; printing and publications; occupancy expenses; 
insurance; equipment; travel; business meetings; conferences and training; depreciation 
and amortization; dues, licenses, subscriptions and fees; miscellaneous expense; payroll 
& related expense; outsourced services; and an allocation of information technology 
department cost. 


 
Project Specific Costs (for Renewable Energy) 


• Expenses directly related to identified projects or identified customers to assist them in 
constructing or operating renewable projects.  Includes services to prospective as well 
as current customers.   


• Must involve direct contact with the project or customer, individually or in groups, and 
provide a service the customer would otherwise incur at their own expense.   


• Does not include general program costs to reach a broad (unidentified) audience such 
as websites, advertising, program development, or program management.  


• Project-Specific costs may be in the categories of; Incentives, Staff salaries, Program 
delivery, Legal services, Public relations, Creative services, Professional services, Travel, 
Business meetings, Telephone, or Escrow account bank fees. 


 
Savings Types 


• Working Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that is used for data entry 
by program personnel as they approve individual projects.  They are based on deemed 
savings/generation for prescriptive measures, and engineering calculations for custom measures.  
They do not incorporate any evaluation or transmission and distribution factors. 


• Reportable Savings/Generation: the estimate of savings/generation that will be used for 
public reporting of Energy Trust results.  This includes transmission and distribution factors, 
evaluation factors, and any other corrections required to the original working values. These 
values are updated annually, and are subject to revision each year during the “true-up” as a 
result of new information or identified errors. 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


7 


• Contract Savings:  the estimate of savings that will be used to compare against annual 
contract goals.  These savings figures are generally the same as the reportable savings at the 
time that the contract year started.  For purposes of adjusting working savings to arrive at this 
number, a single adjustment percentage (a SRAF, as defined below) is agreed to at the beginning 
of the contract year and is applied to all program measures.  This is based on the sum of the 
adjustments between working and reportable numbers in the forecast developed for the 
program year. 


• Savings Realization Adjustment Factors (SRAF):  are savings realization adjustment 
factors applied to electric and gas working savings measures in order to reflect more accurate 
savings information through the benefit of evaluation and other studies. These factors are 
determined by the Energy Trust and used for annual contract amendments. The factors are 
determined based on the best available information from: 
• Program evaluations and/or other research that account for free riders, spill-over effects 


and measure impacts to date; and  
• Published transmission and distribution line loss information resulting from electric measure 


savings.  
 
Total Program and Admin Expenses (line item on income statement) 


• Used only for cost effectiveness calculations and management reports used to track funds 
spent/remaining by service territory.  


• Includes all costs of the organization--direct, indirect, and an allocation of administration costs 
to programs.  


• Should not be used for external financial reporting (not GAAP). 
 


Total Program Expenses (line item on income statement) 
• All indirect costs have been allocated to program costs with the exception of administration 


(management and general costs and communications & outreach).  
• Per the requirements of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) for nonprofits, 


administrative costs should not be allocated to programs. 
• There is no causal relationship—costs would not go away if the program did not exist. 


 
Trade Ally Programs & Customer Service Management 


• Costs associated with Energy Trust sponsorship of training and development of a trade ally 
network for a variety of programs. 


• Trade Ally costs are tracked and allocated to programs based on the number of allies associated 
with that program. 


• Costs in support of assisting customers which benefit all Energy Trust programs such as call 
center operations, customer service manager, complaint handling, etc.  


• Customer service costs are tracked and allocated based on # of calls into the call center per 
month. 


 







Financial Glossary updated 2/11/2008 


8 


True Up 
• True-up is a once-a-year process where we take everything we’ve learned about how much 


energy programs actually save or generate, and update our reports of historic performance and 
our software tools for forecasting and analyzing future savings.  


• Information incorporated includes improved engineering models of savings (new data factor), 
anticipated results of future evaluations based on what prior evaluations of similar programs 
have shown (anticipated evaluation factor), and results from actual evaluations of the program 
and the year of activity in question (evaluation factor). 


• Results are incorporated in the Annual Report (for the year just past) and the True-up Report 
(for prior years). 


• Sometimes the best data on program savings or generation is not available for 2-3 years, 
especially for market transformation programs.  So for some programs, the savings are updated 
through the annual true-up 2 or 3 times 








 
 
Policy Committee of the Energy Trust Board of Directors 
May 20, 2008, 3:00-5:00 pm 
 
Attending: Jason Eisdorfer, John Reynolds, Steve Lacey, Fred Gordon, Peter West and John 
Volkman 
 
1. OSU efficiency project. Steve Lacey briefed the committee on an upcoming OSU 
combined heat and power project. The OSU project team first briefed the board at the 2005 
board retreat. OSU is now at the point of undertaking the project and is still planning on help 
from Energy Trust. OSU has already begun construction on the project and has submitted an 
incentive application. However, we don’t have enough documentation to know how large an 
incentive the project may warrant and have a meeting set up to clarify what they are asking and 
how the Energy Trust process works. Among other things, we need to understand their 
incentive request: OSU was talking about a considerably lower incentive a few months ago than 
the current $3.5 million. The preliminary technical analysis shows savings that would warrant up 
to a $2 million incentive cap at 8 cents/kwh (the standard for combined heat and power 
projects). Due to the program incentive cap of $300,000, the project will require board 
approval (policy below). The project is unlikely to be ready for board review in June, and may 
require a special meeting during the summer. John Reynolds said he was concerned that the 
board doesn’t meet between June and September anyway, and a meeting in July should be fine. A 
meeting with OSU to clarify how Energy Trust fits into this picture is scheduled for June 10. 


 
2. Renewable energy: 
 a. Budget reallocation from community wind to solar. Peter West briefed the 
committee on a proposed shift of funds from wind to solar. In PGE territory, the commercial PV 
budget is already 96% committed and in PacifiCorp territory 107% committed. It is normal to 
see about 25% of these projects drop out, so an over-commitment of this scale is not a source 
of concern. There is considerable interest in commercial PV, due partly to the 2009 expiration 
of the federal production tax credit. Community and small-scale wind projects are stalled 
because no one can find turbines. All of the turbines are being taken by large projects, which are 
a more attractive market for turbine manufacturers, and turbines are unlikely to be available for 
smaller projects until 2010, unless Congress extends the production tax credit for more than 
one year. Peter proposes to take $2.5 million from the 2008 wind budget and add $1.5 for 
commercial solar projects in PGE territory and $1 million in PacifiCorp territory. This would 
still leave enough money in the wind budget to fund some projects if we find can find 
reconditioned turbines. The proposed shift of funds would require Energy Trust to reduce its 
program goals by .35 aMW, the net of 1.1 aMW from the lack of wind projects plus .75 aMW 
for solar. Peter proposes to bring this proposal to the board at its on June 13th noon meeting. 
Steve noted that as many as four combined heat and power projects may be in the pipeline, and 
some may use renewable fuels. 
 
 b. ProLogis. Peter also briefed the committee on a minor change involving the 
ProLogis solar transaction approved by the board last summer. ProLogis is a large owner of 
warehouses that had proposed to install a number of PV projects. As negotiations progressed, 
ProLogis brought in an investor, MMA Renewables. The Energy Trust funding agreement and 
associated power-purchase agreements would be with MMA or a special purpose entity they 







Policy Committee notes  May 20, 2008 


2 


create. On June 13, Peter will ask the board to allow us to complete this project with MMA, not 
with ProLogis. This may be an item for the consent agenda. 
 
 c. Third-party ownership issues. The committee asked Peter to explain issues 
PacifiCorp has raised about projects using our third-party ownership model. Peter said these 
issues do not affect the ProLogis project, but do affect other projects. The third-party 
ownership model has been very popular. It allows municipalities and non-profit organizations to 
bring in outside investors who can take advantage of renewable energy tax credits, to build 
renewable energy projects and supply the power to the municipality or non-profit entity. When 
the projects are net-metered, the process is very simple, and the municipality or non-profit’s 
utility bill reflects the project generation. PacifiCorp has raised two issues about these 
arrangements: (1) that if a project developer builds more than one project it is an “electric 
service supplier” which must comply with various regulations under Oregon law; (2) that these 
projects do not qualify for net-metering. These issues are obstacles to current projects in 
PacifiCorp territory; PGE is not raising these issues. If PacifiCorp’s arguments succeed, it could 
undermine the viability of the third-party ownership model. OPUC staff has asked Energy Trust 
for information about the potential effect on Energy Trust projects. In essence, we believe these 
projects could dry up. The OPUC and Department of Justice are exploring the possibility of 
addressing these issues through a declaratory ruling. Jason wondered if PacifiCorp is concerned 
about distributed generation projects circumventing the utility on a larger scale. He asked if 
these projects are “qualified facilities” under federal law, or more properly classed as net-
metered projects. The committee thought it would be appropriate for Energy Trust to join 
ODOE to seek an OPUC resolution of these issues. 
 
3. Briefs: 
 a. Oregon, California and Washington initiatives. Fred briefed the committee on 
discussions between the three states about collaborative work on zero-net energy commercial 
buildings and appliance programs and standards. California is interested in working on both 
fronts; Washington hasn’t decided. At this point, we are trying to coordinate with both states to 
scope these initiatives and figure out how the work would be done. The OPUC is Oregon’s lead 
on this (at least until there’s an action list and assignments), with Energy Trust support. It is 
clear that a zero-net energy commercial buildings initiative would require a much bigger 
renewable energy budget than Energy Trust now has, would require Energy Trust and OPUC to 
accept a much longer wait time for return on investment, and different approach to risk than 
they traditionally have. Jason asked how good are these ideas, compared to other good ideas? 
The OPUC is plainly interested. John Reynolds observed that zero-net energy commercial 
buildings have captured the imagination of the design community.  
 
 b. Looking beyond today’s technology in supply curves. Energy efficiency supply 
curves are built on the basis of estimates of how much can be saved by particular measures. 
Historically, supply curves have tended to under-estimate the amount of efficiency we can find 
because these curves are based on known technology. At planned funding levels, we acquire all 
of the retrofit conservation in the curves in about 8-15 years, even though we are confident that 
more will be available as technologies and operational and design practices evolve. Essentially, 
efficiency programs help prod manufacturers, designers, etc. to improve products and 
processes, resulting in more available efficiency. Fred has consulted with PacifiCorp, which is 
deciding how to approach this in its integrated resource plan. John Reynolds said he hoped staff 
would be ready to brief the board on this at the retreat. Jason noted that these issues overlap 
with the zero-net energy commercial buildings and appliance standards work we are discussing 
with the other states. 







Policy Committee notes  May 20, 2008 


3 


 c. Governor’s working group on energy efficiency. Fred reported on the status of 
the group’s work. He has briefed the group on problems and issues. The group has suggested 
the need, among many other things, to reconsider: how cost-effectiveness is calculated, how 
carbon is valued, and how to address financing issues rather than just providing incentives. Jason 
noted that OPUC staff has suggested that not all these things require legislation, some can be 
accomplished administratively. The group also talked about how to ensure that an appropriate 
level of funding goes into energy efficiency if a carbon cap is imposed on generation. The 
committee discussed the possibility of bringing Steve Cowell of CSG to talk about the last issue. 
Steve Lacey will see if this might be possible the third week of June.  
 
Board policy on waiving Production Efficiency Incentive Cap: 
 
The board may approve exceptions to the Production Efficiency, Building Efficiency 
and New Building Efficiency program incentive limit for projects that meet the 
following criteria: 


1.      Exemptions require suspension of self-direction for a minimum of 3 years. 
2.      Exemptions will be approved only if there is available incentive budget.  
3.      Projects are expected to save energy at a cost per annual unit of energy 


saved ($ per annual kilowatt-hour/therm) to Energy Trust that is less than 
the current incentive levels for the applicable program.  


 








E:\BOARD PACKETS\2008 Files\08 06 13\Final\Evaluation Committee Report May 2008.doc 


 
 


Evaluation Committee Report 
May 9, 2008 
 
Evaluation Committee Notes 
 


The Evaluation Committee met on May 9, 2008, with Debbie Kitchin, chair; Philipp Degens, 
Evaluation Manager; Brien Sipe, Evaluation Analyst; Sarah Castor, Market Research and 
Evaluation Analyst; Fred Gordon, Planning and Evaluation Manager; Kate Scott; Energy Efficiency 
Contractor; Matt Braman, Planning Analyst; Ken Keating, Evaluation Expert; Robert Cross, CSG; 
and Tom Eckman, Northwest Power and Conservation Council.  Also present for the second 
item were: Steven Grover, ECONorthwest; Pete Catching, Planning Manager; and Lakin Garth, 
Planning and Evaluation Intern. The meeting began at 11:00 AM with an overview of the 
meeting’s agenda.   
 
Brien Sipe presented early results from the Home Energy Monitor (HEM) pilot study. Major 
initial findings were: 


o Generally similar results for both participants who were selected from Home Energy 
Reviews (HERs), and participants who signed up via the Energy Trust website (‘early 
adopters’) 


o High overall satisfaction with HEMs for all users 
o 68% of HER participants and 55% of early adopters believe they have reduced their 


energy consumption as a result of using the monitor 
o Low willingness to pay for the monitor, with majority in the $0-40 range. 


 
Follow-up will include another survey to same participants in six months, survey of HER 
participants who did not receive the monitor as a control group, and billing data analysis. 
 
Discussions about the evaluation included: 


o Extension of HEM offer to additional 120 early adopters after offer was advertized by 
PGE 


o Significant interest in HEM technology from other utilities 
o Ability to compare results to other studies of HEM pilots in Canada and elsewhere 


 
Phil Degens presented results from a revised draft of the 2005-2006 Home Energy Solutions 
Process and Impact Evaluation. Major initial findings were: 


o Revised free rider rates (ranging from 7% to 48%) lower than in last draft 
o Low participant spillover rates (0% to 16%) 
o High participant spillover rates for windows (713% to 1,162%) and CFLs (372% to 623%) 
o Net realization rates of 99% for windows and insulation in electrically heated homes 
o Gross realization rates of only 27% for windows and insulation in gas heated homes 
o Gas model very imprecise due to low number of observations 


 
Major recommendations were: 


o Review nonparticipant sample to make sure they are a good comparison group 
o Incorporate more billing data into the model for gas heated-homes 
o Attempt a cross-section time-series model for both gas and electric 


 







Evaluation Committee Report    May 9, 2008 


 2


Discussions about the evaluation included: 
o Specific questions used to compute free rider estimates 
o Arriving at a mutually agreed upon free rider estimation methodology is delaying the 


HES, NB and PE evaluation studies 
o Large spillover effects for nonparticipants and whether NEEA is capturing those savings 
o Whether there is measurement error for the nonparticipant sample, i.e. were the 


installed items really efficient enough to otherwise qualify for HES program 
o The number and outcomes of various models attempted to estimate realization rates 


 
The Evaluation Committee meeting concluded at 1:00 PM. 
 
The next Evaluation Committee meeting will be scheduled for June 27, 2008 from 10:00 AM-
1:00 PM. 
  








 
 


CONSERVATION ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting May 21, 2008 
 
Attending from the Council:  
Gary Curtis, Ecos 
Suzanne Dillard, ODOE 
Bruce Dobbs, BOMA and (for Steve Bicker) NW Natural  
Joe Esmonde, IBEW 
Lisa Espinosa, Cascade Natural Gas 
Andrea Jacobs, City of Portland Office of Sustainable Development 
Karen Meadows, BPA 
Mat Northway, EWEB 
Lauren Shapton, PGE  
Steve Weiss, NWEC 
   
Attending from the Energy Trust of Oregon: 
Matt Braman 
Pete Catching 
Christian Conkle 
Fred Gordon 
Steve Lacey 
Spencer Moersfelder 
Elaine Prause 
John Reynolds, Board of Directors  
Jan Schaeffer 
Greg Stiles 
Kendall Youngblood 
 
Others attending; 
Dick Harmon, Industrial Areas Foundation 
Andrew Ragen, Rogers Compressed Air 
Aaron Wines, Lockheed Martin 
 
 
1. Introductions  
Steve Lacey reviewed the agenda and asked for self introductions.  
 
2. 2008 Q1 report 
Overview. Steve Lacey reported 4.3 aMW saved in Q1 is a 40% increase over Q1 ’07. We are at 13% of the 2008 
best case and 17% of our conservative case goal. Last year at this time we were at 9% of best case.  
 
We saved 405,000 therms, nearly double what we got in Q1 ’07. We are on track with expenditures. We are at 
18% of our best case goal, double where we were in Q1 ’07.  
 
He noted completion of over 250 projects in the commercial sector, compared to 150 last year. We are ahead 50-
40 in industrial projects. Residential projects are also running ahead of ’07.  
 
Levelized cost in the commercial sector is 3.8 cents, reflecting added outreach and staffing to ramp up for 838.  
 







CAC Notes – April 16, 2008     


 2


New Buildings. Spencer Moersfelder addressed accomplishments in the New Buildings program, which include 
achieving 10% and 27%, respectively, of the program’s conservative ’08 goals in Q1. He said they have contracted 
with Evergreen Consulting LLC for outreach to lighting contractors in the new construction market. They worked 
with Eco Northwest on a financial calculator tool and hosted “Form Meets Function,” a gathering of architect and 
engineering firms to network and generate leads. They are doing more outreach to the design-build market. 
Advisory council members discussed the lighting tool. Lisa Espinosa asked for a report on activity in Cascade’s 
territory.  
 
Existing Buildings. Greg Stiles said activity in Q1 ’08 is twice that over this period in ’07. Expenditures are under 
budget a little, reflecting some behind-the-scenes work. He expects under budget figures to come down over the 
next two quarters. We received a 2008 ENERGY STAR award for our food service program. The fifth largest food 
service equipment dealer invited Energy Trust to train their national sales staff on energy efficient food service 
equipment. We continue working with BPA to coordinate equipment specs and standard incentives. We hosted 
lighting trade ally seminars in Portland, Coos Bay, Medford and Bend, drawing larger numbers of attendees than 
ever. Lisa asked what the focus on the foodservice training was; Greg said foodservice equipment, which is mostly 
gas. Other highlights Greg mentioned included a well-received presentation on “Moving the Foodservice Market in 
Oregon” at the Association of Energy Service Professionals’ national conference, initiated a close relationship with 
Travel Portland, and collaborated with BetterBricks and BOMA on the second annual Office Energy Showdown 
contest in which commercial office buildings in the Portland areas compete against each other using the ENERGY 
STAR Portfolio Manager tool.  
 
Production Efficiency. Elaine Prause reported the program claimed 11% of its annual conservative goal. They are 
behind in spending and savings on the gas side because the small industrial initiative is in launch phase. She noted the 
small industrial compressed air incentive calculation tool is now available, supported by seven new compressed air 
trade allies. She said they are seeing the effect of the recession as businesses seek low cost, no cost measures 
instead of making capital investments. She said the RFP for program delivery contractors for 2009-2011 is on the 
street.  
 
Existing Homes. Christian Conkle noted the program is 11% of its conservative electric goal and 27% of its 
conservative gas goal. They are under budget. Steve Weiss asked to see average number of measures per home; 
Christian will get this, and also ask Diane to explain to Steve what factors account for the increased performance in 
Q1. Karen Meadows asked how we can be underspent but higher in levelized cost. Kendall said probably because 
we front-load infrastructure and marketing at the beginning of the year. Suzanne Dillard asked how many units 
multifamily buildings have. Christian said this ranges widely. Christian noted Energy Trust was title sponsor of the 
first Better Living Show in March at the Portland Expo Center. It attracted 22,500 attendees. Centerpiece was our 
1,100 sf Good Energy home highlighting energy efficiency improvements and solar systems.  Lisa asked how many of 
the Home Energy Reviews are gas versus electric, or both; Christian said he could provide this information. Gary 
Curtis asked how much of the Q1 HES savings are from CFLs; Christian said he could provide this information. Gary 
said the Corvallis Energy Challenge is creating spillover to the program Ecos is running to reach 60-80% of median 
income homes.  
 
New Homes and Products. Kendall said the program is at 18% and 27% of its conservative electric and gas ’08 goals. 
Over 255 efficient new homes were completed in Q1, about on par with 2007. Energy Trust incentives helped fund 
the purchase of 2,457 energy efficient clothes washers. She said Energy Trust received EPA’s 2008 ENERGY STAR 
Program Delivery Award for our Change a Light, Change the World fundraiser initiative. We have initiated a 
process to create a web form for the clothes washer program. The program paid incentives for 255,000 specialty 
CFLs. She reported we have established an Oregon training partner group to populate an online trade ally calendar. 
The program participated in the Portland Home Builder’s Association’s Ultimate House show with over 20 efficient 
homes on display.  
 







CAC Notes – April 16, 2008     


 3


Solar Hot Water. Kacia Brockman said numbers are slightly lower than in ’07 at this time but the number of 
commitments are up. She thinks contractors are in sales mode in reaction to the end of federal tax credits at the 
end of the year. She said we launched the Solar Now collaborative brand campaign was launched in conjunction with 
Solar Oregon, ODOE and City of Portland. We have a website, SolarNowOregon.org. She noted the solar energy 
review pilot, in which homeowners in the Portland area who have attended a free solar seminar can get a free 
assessment of a site for solar. The annual NW Solar Expo trained 200 new existing solar professionals and attracted 
4,300 consumers. Kacia said there are 80 projects in the pipeline.  
 
NEEA. Steve reported 519,342 CFLs sold in Energy Trust territory through the fall change-a-light CFL buy-down 
program. NEEA supported one of the region’s major food processing plants in implementing a continuous energy 
improvement strategy. It supported the Legacy Health System in finalizing its strategic resource management plan in 
November, with expectations to achieve a 30% reduction in energy use over three years.  
 
3. Production Efficiency incentive change 
Elaine Prause reported the program has experienced delay, shelving of projects as the market turns down. The 
project pipeline has not improved as expected this year. Water/wastewater committed projects are on hold, as 
incentives are not enough to bring them to completion. She noted the Production Efficiency program incentives are 
not consistent with the Existing Buildings program. She reviewed the history of changes to custom incentive levels. 
We have not changed since Jan. 2007, when the custom incentive was raised from 12 cents to 15 cents per kWh. 
She showed the reduction over time in the percentage of project cost covered by incentives, from 65% in 2003 to 
29% in 2007. She proposes to increase the custom incentive cap to match the Existing Buildings program’s 50% of 
project costs, and increase the per kWh incentive to 20 cents. To match BETC, minimum payback would reduce to 
12 months. Custom lighting incentives would remain at 15 cents/kWh not to exceed 30% of incremental cost.  
 
John Reynolds asked what kind of more diverse project types would be helped by the incentive changes. Elaine 
mentioned refrigeration and dust collection.  
 
In response to a question from Andrew Ragen, Elaine said the program is considering raising the incentive cap to 
60% of project costs for the summer. Andrew said this would be helpful in pushing forward projects that have been 
put on hold.  
 
Steve said we would like to implement this as of June 1 and asked for CAC advice. Gary Curtis thinks the change is 
warranted and suggested keeping this new offer stable for a long period of time. Lauren supported doing this. Mat 
Northway said he likes the change. He also supports long term stability, or at least two years in a row. Suzanne 
Dillard supports it and appreciates the consistency with BETC. Karen Meadows supports it too; BPA is looking at 
potentially bumping their incentives up to the same level. Andrea Jacobs thinks the change makes perfect change; she 
thinks the industry would be glad to see changes in the upward direction. Joe Esmonde offered 100% support. Bruce 
Dobbs thinks this would help move the market. He also said that, until you get some of the larger gas customers to 
pay the public purpose charge, we will be missing a lot of potential savings. Steve Weiss thinks we should have the 
conversation about re-opening discussions about serving/charging industrial gas customers. Fred noted some, maybe 
most, of these unserved customers are on a transport rate and buying gas from sources other than NW Natural.  
   
4. Regional efficiency incentive change  
Steve Lacey introduced Fred Gordon, who made the presentation. Fred mentioned the governor’s energy efficiency 
working group, staffed by Dave Van’t Hof. There are 40+ people on the team. Energy Trust is participating but not 
proposing legislation. Some ideas in discussion: bill financing, property tax financing, ideas for changing the wires 
charge, strengthening the code process, strengthening SEED, clearer accountability for energy costs/improvements 
in state government, more funding or flexibility for long-term investments (e.g., zero net energy buildings).  
 
Fred said the Portland/Multnomah County Energy Plan is hosting similar discussions, with a lot of focus on financing, 
building ratings for new and resale, how to help with “leadership projects.”  







CAC Notes – April 16, 2008     


 4


 
The PUC hosted a workshop on supply curves. There was a question of whether efficiency could be accelerated to 
make up the difference if a coal plant is shut down. We presented the dilemma of basing supply curves on “last 
year’s technology. We need to make assumptions about new technologies and potential for behavior change.  
 
He reviewed the Big and Bold Initiatives, noting that California and Oregon commissioners are committed to trying 
to promulgate some joint action on zero net energy new buildings and on appliance/electronics programs and 
standards. They are trying to set up a kickoff meeting to agree on key activities. Karen Meadows asked if NEEA is 
involved and whether BPA should be involved. Fred said questions like this are being considered at a level higher 
than him.  
 
He noted the Western Climate Initiative has proposed carbon caps on generators, on utilities only if they own the 
generation or import from outside the WCI region. This means generators will each need to meet decreasing 
carbon caps. Some states auction credits, setting aside some of the revenue for ee and rr. But the money could also 
go to subsidizing something else. In the east, the air pollution control agencies are setting caps with no 
understanding of the role of energy efficiency and renewables. He thinks there could be a market for efficiency 
credits. He showed charts showing carbon associated with Energy Trust utilities. Steve Weiss noted the region’s 
power plants are going to retire before 2050; when you combine the effect of taking them out and new renewables, 
you can keep carbon growth down.  
 
Fred explained all of this is leading to our board strategic planning retreat in mid June.  
 
 
 
Meeting adjourned at 4:00 pm. Next meeting tentatively scheduled for June 18. We may cancel the meeting if we have only 
one or two agenda items.  
 
 








 1


 
 
RENEWABLE RESOURCE ADVISORY COUNCIL 
Notes from meeting on May 21, 2008 
 
Attending from the Council: 
Thor Hinckley, PGE 
Robert Grott, Northwest Environmental 
Business Council 
Lori Koho, OPUC 
Frank Vingola, UOSRML 
Doug Boleyn, Cascade Solar Consulting 
Carel DeWinkle, ODOE 
Joe Reinhart, OSEIA 
 
Attending from the Trust: 
Lizzie Giles 
Peter West 
Betsy Kauffman 
Erin Johnston 
Brian Thornton 
John Volkman 
Alan Cowan 
Thad Roth 
Jed Jorgensen 
Sue Meyer Sample 
Tara Crookshank 


Attending from the Board: 
John Reynolds, Univ. of Oregon 
 
Others attending: 
Troy Gagliano, EnXco 
Steve Anderson, Evergreen Engineering 
Russ Wright, SunEdison 
Anne Gravatt, RNP 


1. Welcome and Introductions 


Peter convened the meeting at 9:37 am. The April notes were adopted without change.  


2. Open Solicitation Project: West Linn Hydro 


Betsy Kauffman brought a micro hydro project in West Linn to the RAC for feedback. The city 
of West Linn is proposing to install a micro-hydropower project totaling 5.1 kilowatts (kW) at 
the site of one of its pressure reduction valves. The project is expected to be completed in 
October, 2008.  


This would be Energy Trust’s first small hydropower project using the pressure within a 
municipal water system to generate electricity. This “urban microhydro” market is one we 
would like to develop. This is an excellent opportunity to learn about these kinds of projects 
and their costs. West Linn is also showing great leadership by committing to this project. 
 
The city of West Linn operates several pressure reduction valves in its water system to reduce 
water pressure to a point where the water is usable in homes. After an analysis by an Energy 
Trust consulting engineer, the valve near a Metro yard debris station along Willamette Falls 
Drive was determined to have adequate flow and pressure to generate hydropower. There was 
also adequate room in the vault at this site to install the turbine and electrical connections.  
 
Upfront capital, installation, and permitting costs for the project are expected to total $59,232, 
including a contingency fund.  







DRAFT: RAC notes – 5/21/2008 


 2


The table below summarizes our comparison of project revenues and expenses and calculation 
of above-market costs.  
 


NPV electricity revenue 
NPV BETC Passthrough  


$21,165 
$17,777  


NPV total Revenue $38,942 
 
Minus  
     NPV Total Design & Construction 
     NPV Operations Expense 
     NPV of $500/year spare parts fund 
contribution 


($59,232) 
($5,624) 
($4,687) 


NPV Total Project cost ($69,543) 
 
NPV Net above-market costs (total 
revenue minus total project cost)  ($30,601) 


 
Energy Trust is proposing to pay an incentive of up to $33,967 upon commissioning and 
depending on final project bids. The proposed incentive has a present value of $30,601 which 
would cover 100% of the above-market costs of the project. The incentive will be paid upon 
project commissioning. Energy Trust will take title to 100% of the tags for the project over 20 
years. 
 
The project will run year-round, producing an annual 40,208 kilowatt-hours of electricity which 
will be sold to Portland General Electric under a standard QF contract.  
 
Staff supports this project and is recommending that Energy Trust provide up to $33,967 in 
funding.  
 
John Reynolds asked for the size of the contingency fund. Betsy responded that it is about 20%, 
or $9,000. John commented that projects similar to this one had come before the RAC in the 
past. Peter responded that there have been a few, but the market lacked experience to bring 
the projects to fruition. Betsy added that there were additional issues with the two previously 
considered projects.  
 
Robert Grott commented that Energy Trust is recommending support of this project because it 
would be a model to other projects, but he isn’t clear about how much opportunity exists. 
Betsy said that every municipal water system in PGE territory has been contacted by Staff with 
an offer to co-fund a feasibility study and receive assistance with applying funding from the state. 
Two have accepted and three others are seriously considering moving forward. As cities 
develop sustainability plans, this becomes a more attractive opportunity. 
 
Steve Anderson said that they will likely find 10 or 20 favorable sites with the infrastructure to 
develop the project successful. West Linn is a small project, which contributes to its higher cost. 
However, most of these future projects will be larger and therefore more cost-effective. There 
are also opportunities to use existing pumps as a turbine generator, which would dramatically 
reduce the cost. 
 
Joe Reinhart asked what West Linn is contributing to the project. Betsy replied that they must 
put in the entire amount upfront, and will receive the BETC pass-through and Energy Trust 
funds upon completion, leaving them with around $10,000 net out-of-pocket costs. It was 
designed to give the city around a seven year payback. Joe asked if this might be making the 







DRAFT: RAC notes – 5/21/2008 


 3


expectation for return too high for future projects. Steve responded that the most valuable 
lesson for other cities will be that this is a viable opportunity when they are putting in pressure 
reduction valves.  Peter added that the return is in line with other commercial projects.  Carel 
DeWinkel said that ODOE is very supportive of this project and looks forward to the 
experience for future project. 
 
Peter asked for approval from the RAC. There were no dissenting votes. They will move 
forward on contracting with West Linn. 


3. Proposed Increase to the Solar Budget 


Kacia Brockman explained that Staff is proposing a shift of $1.5 M of PGE and $1 M of Pacific 
Power money from the uncommitted Community Wind program into the solar budget to 
support large solar activity. As was discussed at an earlier RAC meeting this year, the 
Community Wind funds will not be spent this year due to a lack of turbine availability. $1.3 M 
would be left in the Community Wind budget for PGE and $650,000 for Pacific Power should 
opportunities with used turbines become available.  


This budget shift would impact program performance goals. Had the money been spent in the 
Community Wind program, it was forecast to achieve approximately 1.15 aMW, whereas in 
solar, it will achieve .34 aMW.  However, staff has previously reported that all the community 
wind projects are stalled and there appears to be no prospects to secure turbines. 


Currently, 96% of the solar budget in PGE and 107% in Pacific Power is committed, and Staff has 
a long list of additional projects that would move forward if the funds were available. However, 
the commercial market for solar is very volatile at the moment. Even with this additional money, 
staff expects a 25% attrition rate, and it could be higher. Nevertheless, if the money is not 
moved into another program, it will not be spent and there will be no generation. 


Nearly 80% of the currently committed solar budget is involved in third-party owned projects. 
The third-party model is valuable because it allows entities, such as cities and non-profits, to 
host solar energy systems they would not be able to afford it otherwise.  This is providing 
enormous economic and development opportunities in Oregon. 


Peter repeated that by shifting the funding, we are taking advantage of an opportunity to deliver 
generation where there would be none (if the funds were left in Community Wind) and support 
projects we would otherwise not be able to support. The funds that are left in the Community 
Wind budget are sufficient to support a project should an unexpected opportunity arise. 


John asked why used wind turbines are coming on the market and where they are coming from. 
Alan said that projects that were built 10 or 20 years ago are being repowered. Smaller turbines 
of 400 or 600 kW are being replaced with 1+ MW turbines. The removed turbines are being 
refurbished and sold at a significantly reduced cost. And, more importantly, they are available. 


Anne Gravatt asked for clarification on the remaining $1.3 M in PGE and $650,000 in Pacific 
Power.  The RAC members supported the budget change.  


4. Third-party Ownership Issues with Pacific Power 


Kacia briefed the RAC on several concerns Pacific Power has raised with regard to third-party 
ownership model. Last week, a request was made by the OPUC for information on Energy 
Trust projects’ use of the third-party model to assist them in responding to several issues being 
raised by Pacific Power. The first concern, raised over a month ago, was that third-party owned 







DRAFT: RAC notes – 5/21/2008 


 4


systems should be treated as Energy Service Supplies (ESS), and the second was that these 
projects should not be eligible to net-meter.  
 
Eighty percent of the commercial solar electric budget is involved in third-party owned projects, 
making these concerns from Pacific Power very detrimental to Energy Trust’s projects. There 
are twelve solar trade allies promoting this model to their customers. There are at least 23 
active projects moving forward that would be affected by any changes. 
 
Lori said that there are three issues. The first was treatment as an ESS. An additional question 
came up regarding territory distribution. If someone else is generating power in their territory, 
is that a violation? And lastly, there is the net-metering issue.  
 
The OPUC believes that the ESS and net-metering concerns can be decided by a Commission 
ruling. Right now, the Department of Justice has been working with Honeywell, who may file a 
petition on this issue. However, Honeywell may decide that this is more expense than it is 
worth and pull out of Oregon. 
 
The OPUC would like to settle this issue as quickly as possible. The hope is that this will not 
need to go into the next legislative session. Speed is of the essence. Because of the economic 
and development impact of this concern, there is a strong motivation to move as rapidly as 
possible. 
 
Carel asked why net-metering was even an issue. Kacia commented that if the system owner 
was forced to act as QF and sell directly to the utility, the host would not actually be purchasing 
clean power, which may not meet their motivations for investing in the project in the first place. 
Peter added that there are financial drawbacks as well in having to pay property taxes on the 
normally exempted equipment and delayed contracting on the QF and interconnection. 
 
Robert said that this has implications beyond solar. He is working with microhydro and biomass 
projects using this model that would be damaged by not being able to net-meter or use third-
party ownership models. 
 
Anne asked Lori if Pacific Power has filed anything formal. Lori said they have not, but the way in 
which is has been presented it must be addressed.  
 
Carel said that this should be made a legislative concept, if it hasn’t already. Lori replied that it 
has. 
 
Brian asked how quickly the Commission can move on a declaratory ruling if Honeywell moves 
forward. Lori said that she is unsure, but she would expect at a minimum several weeks. 
 
Peter asked if the Governor’s Office has been contacted. Lori responded that they are aware of 
the situation.  
 
Kacia asked if projects in PGE territory can move forward since PGE has not raised these 
concerns. Lori said she cannot provide guidance. It comes to down to whether the investors 
feel the risk is too great or not. 







DRAFT: RAC notes – 5/21/2008 


 5


  


5. Proposed Rules for Small Generator Facility Interconnection 


Alan Cowan gave a presentation on the current draft of the Oregon PUC’s proposed Small 
Generator Interconnection Rules. Small generators are deemed to be 20MW or less. 


Under the 2005 Federal Energy Policy Act the Oregon PUC is required to implement “uniform 
technical standards, procedures, and agreements for interconnecting generators” based on IEEE 
1547 standards. Under the act the PUC was to have made a determination on or before August 
8, 2007. Though the process was begun on June 20, 2006, the determination deadline has 
passed.  


The draft rules are based on the MADRI Model Small Generator Interconnection Procedures 
and propose 1) technical standards, 2) the application process, 3) the interconnection process, 
and 4) the relationships between parties (the utility and the applicant). 


The technical standards are based on IEEE 1547 and IEEE 1547.1.  The Underwriters Laboratory 
implementation of IEEE 1547 is labeled UL 1741. 


The application process classifies the interconnection by on the project size and the complexity 
of the interconnection. Based on those classifications a project may be directed into a fast-track 
or full study process. Fees and timelines are also determined by the project classification. 


The interconnection process sets guidelines for the process from construction through to 
operation, including witness testing, commissioning tests, inspections and certificates of 
completion to the implementation of the interconnection agreement.  


The relationships between parties define insurance needs, dispute resolution guidelines, the 
relationships of other services, such as standby power, backup power, and distribution charges, 
as well as a process for curtailment and disconnection of the project. 


The proposed rules are applicable to projects under 10MW that wish to connect to a public 
utilities distribution or transmission system, that are not subject to FERC requirements, and that 
are not seeking a net metering solution. The proposed process is not retroactive, but would 
capture existing projects at the end of their contract life. 


The proposed rule creates four project classification tiers: 


• Tier 1 
o 25 kW or less 
o Lab-tested, inverter-based interconnection equipment 


• Tier 2 
o 2 MW or less 
o Lab-test or field-tested interconnection equipment with documentation from 


previous Tier 4 application 
• Tier 3 


o 10 MW or less 
o Must not export power beyond point of interconnection 


• Tier 4 
o 10 MW or less 
o Does not qualify or fails to meet Tier 1, 2, or 3 requirements 







DRAFT: RAC notes – 5/21/2008 


 6


Alan does not think we will see many projects in Tier 1 as most will choose net-metering at that 
production level. Tiers 2 and 3 have specific screens to filter projects. Those that do not fit 
those screen pass into Tier 4.  


All Tier 4 projects undergo a full study process. The process starts with a scoping meeting to 
determine whether the utility should perform a feasibility study or proceed directly to a system 
impact study, a facilities study, or an interconnection agreement. Any or all of the studies may 
be skipped.  


Timelines for the study process are proposed as follows: 


• Application Receipt – 10 days, notice of complete or incomplete 
o 10 days to complete application if required 
o 10 days to schedule scoping meeting 


 
• After scoping meeting 


o 15 days to approve application if mutually agreed no issues or minor upgrade   -
OR- 


o 5 days to provide feasibility study agreement 
 Agreement is based on a scope of work, reasonable schedule, good-


faith, non-bind estimate of study cost 
o 15 days for applicant to execute feasibility study agreement 
o Complete study (no timeline, could be weeks or months) 
o Study is provided to applicant within 5 days of completion 


 
The process then repeats for each study, as necessary. 
 
If facility upgrades are needed as a result of the study, the utility may hire third party 
contractors or the applicant may hire the contractor if it is agreed to in writing by both the 
utility and the applicant. 
 
The utilities are required to keep for two year records related to the number of completed 
applications that were received, the time required to complete the review process for each 
application, and the reasons for approval or denial. In addition, the utility must keep contract 
records for all interconnected customers, including documentation from studies. 
 
The utilities must provide an annual report to the PUC including: 


• Number of completed applications received 
• Number of interconnections completed 
• Types of facilities and nameplate capacities 
• Location of completed facility by zip code 
• Reasons for approval or denial 
• For Tier 3 and 4 approvals: basic telemetry configurations 
• For Tier 4 : interconnection facilities required and estimated costs 


 
Alan noted that while these record keeping requirements are a good step, they don’t necessarily 
give enough data to know if a utility is intentionally trying to delay projects. To understand if 
that is happening it would also be of benefit to know the initial estimated costs of feasibility 
studies and the actual contracted costs of those studies. 
 







DRAFT: RAC notes – 5/21/2008 


 7


The rule also proposes regulations for metering and monitoring of generation equipment above 
3MW in capacity. The utility is required to install, maintain, test, repair, and operate the 
equipment. The applicant is required to pay for it. The utility and the applicant may agree to 
modify the telemetry rules if they choose to do so. 
 
In cases requiring arbitration of a dispute, either party may petition the PUC for arbitration. The 
PUC shall use an administrative law judge unless workload necessitates and outside arbitrator. 
Appeals to the PUC are not allowed. 


There is an Administrative Law Judge’s Workshop on the rules on May 28 at 9:30am at the PUC 
building in Salem. Public comments will be taken at a hearing on June 11 at 9:30am at the same 
location. 


Carel commented that in terms of costs, the telemetry packages are a good value in these draft 
rules. But if the utilities want to delay things they will be able to do so. More reporting would be 
good to provide proof that a utility is trying to obstruct projects from moving forward. 


Alan agreed, noting that a long range goal would be to have a cost-effective telemetry system 
available for use here in the NW.  


Betsy asked if there are areas in the rule that could use improvement. 


Alan commented that having a standardized rule for all utilities will be a good thing. 


Peter explained that having a common standard means that projects can plan what to do. It’s 
better than the current system, which he described as “a black box.” He believes the ability to 
have an outside consultant to speed the study process up is an important feature that has been 
left out of the rule. 


Alan noted that Energy Trust’s early comments to the PUC asked for that change but it was not 
put into the rule. 


 


6. Public Comment 


Peter asked for any further public comment.  There was none.  He adjourned the meeting at 
11:30am.  


 





